
GRANT AGREEMENT 

 

BY AND BETWEEN 

 

PINELLAS COMMUNITY FOUNDATION 

 

AND 

 

COMMUNITY LAW PROGRAM, INC. 

 

 

 

THIS GRANT AGREEMENT (hereinafter “Agreement”), effective upon the last date 

executed below, by and between PINELLAS COMMUNITY FOUNDATION, a public 

charitable foundation established by Trust Agreement Dated January 1, 1969, as may have been 

amended from time to time, whose address is 17755 US Highway 19 North, Suite 150, Clearwater 

Florida 33764, (hereinafter, "AGENCY”) and COMMUNITY LAW PROGRAM, INC., whose 

address is 501 1st Ave N Ste 519  Saint Petersburg, FL 33701-3715 (hereinafter “GRANTEE”). 

 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, in response to the emergence of a novel coronavirus and the respiratory 

disease it causes (hereinafter, “COVID-19”), the World Health Organization (hereinafter, 

“WHO”) has officially characterized COVID-19 as a pandemic that constitutes a Public Health 

Emergency of International Concern; and 

WHEREAS, on March 1, 2020, Governor Ron DeSantis issued Executive Order Number 

20-51, declaring that appropriate measures to control the spread of COVID-19 in the State of 

Florida are necessary, and accordingly the State Surgeon General and State Health Officer declared 

that a Public Health Emergency exists in the State of Florida; and 

WHEREAS, on March 9, 2020, Governor Ron DeSantis issued Executive Order Number 

20-52 declaring a State of Emergency for the state of Florida in furtherance of efforts to respond 

to and mitigate the effects of COVID-19 throughout the state; and 
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WHEREAS, the Pinellas County Board of County Commissioners (hereinafter, “Board”) 

passed Resolution 20-60 to define, expand, and add critical programs and services to mitigate the 

devastating impacts of COVID-19 on Pinellas County residents; and  

WHEREAS, nonprofit community partners have seen an increased demand for many 

services and assistance in response to impacts from COVID-19, particularly in the areas of food 

programs, homelessness, behavioral health, and legal assistance for evictions; and 

WHEREAS, as a direct result of the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency, many 

individuals and families find themselves in precarious financial situations within Pinellas County, 

without expanded access to critical services leading to food insecurity, housing insecurity, and 

behavioral health challenges; and 

WHEREAS, the threat to these vulnerable individuals and families constitutes a 

significant threat to public safety and welfare requiring rapid expansion of vital services to meet 

local needs; and 

WHEREAS, AGENCY is a subrecipient of  pass-thru funds awarded  by the U.S. Treasury 

Department (hereinafter, “Treasury”) to Pinellas County (hereinafter, “County”) made available 

under section 601(a) of the Social Security Act as added by section 5001 of the CARES Act 

(hereinafter, “Coronavirus Relief Fund” ); and 

WHEREAS, the County in partnership with AGENCY wishes to quickly expand services 

in priority areas that mitigate COVID-19 related impacts within the community such as food 

insecurity, housing insecurity, and access to behavioral health service though the Pinellas CARES 

Critical Service Expansion Program; and 
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WHEREAS, AGENCY has determined that GRANTEE has the experience and capacity 

to quickly administer and deliver awarded funds to assist in the goal of expanding services in one 

or more of the priority areas that mitigate COVID-19 related impacts within the community;   

NOW THEREFORE, the parties hereto, mutually agree as follows: 

1. Specific Grant Information:

This project shall be undertaken and accomplished in accordance with the terms and

conditions specified herein and the Appendices named below, which are attached hereto 

and by reference incorporated herein: 

a) Grantee’s Name: Community Law Program, Inc. 

b) Grantee’s Contact and Notice Information:

Primary Contact Name:  Kimberly Rodgers, Executive Director

Address:  501 1st Ave N Ste 519  Saint Petersburg, FL 33701-3715

Phone Number: 727-582-7480

Grantee’s Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number: 791389828

c) Federal Award Identification Number:  Direct payment from the Department of

the Treasury (‘Treasury’) pursuant to section 601(b) of the Social Security

Act, as amended by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic

Security Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136, div. A, Title V (Mar. 27, 2020).

d) Federal Award Date:  March 27, 2020

e) Period of Grant Performance, Start and End Date: September 17, 2020 - December

30, 2020

g) Amount of Funds Awarded: $240,000 (hereinafter, “Awarded Funds”).
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h)  Name of Federal Awarding Agency, Pass-Through Entity, and Contact Information 

for Awarding Official of the Pass-Through Entity: 

  Federal Awarding Agency: 

   United States Department of Treasury 

  Pass-Through Entity: 

   Pinellas Community Foundation 

   Contact Information for Awarding Official of the Pass-Through Entity: 

    Duggan Cooley, CEO, Pinellas Community Foundation 

    17755 US Highway 19 N, Suite 150 

    Clearwater, FL 33764 

i) CFDA Number and Name 

CFDA Number (at time of disbursement):  21.019 

CFDA Name:  Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF) 

 j)  Indirect Cost Rate for GRANTEE portion of the Federal Award:  0% - all costs 

must be direct costs 

2. Scope of Services: 

The GRANTEE shall administer the Pinellas CARES Critical Service expansion 

Program funds awarded from the AGENCY consistent with the purpose identified in the 

GRANTEE’s application for award of funds (attached as Appendix 4) and which are 

consistent with the purpose of mitigating COVID-19 related impacts within the 

community, including food insecurity, housing insecurity and or behavioral health access 

for COVID-19 affected residents. 
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a) GRANTEE shall administer funding in an amount up to two hundred and forty 

thousand dollars and no 00/100 for expanded local services with up to 0% or 

$0.00 allowed for indirect costs. 

b) GRANTEE agrees to monitor and deliver these funds pursuant to the following 

requirements: 

i. Compliance with all rules and guidelines of the CARES Act including 

certifications and/or attestations of compliance where appropriate. 

ii. Compliance with Appendix 1 - CARES Act Guidance and Requirements. 

iii. Compliance with Appendix 2 – Attestation. 

iv. Basic weekly reporting of service numbers by type of service and expanded 

monthly reporting of services, trends, expenditures, and other 

programmatic information.  

v. Maintenance of service level information as appropriate for reporting upon 

request by the AGENCY, including services provided, outcomes and 

accounting of expenditures. 

vi. GRANTEE understands and agrees that it may be required to adapt and/or 

respond during hurricane-related emergencies to help meet expanded 

needs and challenges of COVID-19. 

vii. GRANTEE understands that priority service areas may be adjusted by 

written notice of the AGENCY. 

3. Term of Agreement. 

The services of the GRANTEE shall commence upon execution and the agreement shall 

expire on December 30, 2020. The expiration date of this Agreement may be extended, by mutual 
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agreement of the parties in writing. This option shall be exercised only if all terms and conditions 

remain the same. 

4. Compensation. 

a) The AGENCY agrees to provide GRANTEE an amount not to exceed two 

hundred and forty thousand dollars and no 00/100 ($240,000) as an award of the Pinellas CARES 

Nonprofit Partnership Fund for the services described in Section 2 of this Agreement. Up to zero 

dollars ($0.00) equivalent to 0% of the funding may be allowed for approved indirect costs in 

association with this program.  The remainder of the funding will be for competitively awarded 

expansion of services as defined. 

b) GRANTEE shall maintain a Budget Plan (Appendix 4) for anticipated indirect and 

direct costs, as approved by AGENCY. Any changes that increase costs must be in writing and in 

an amendment to this Agreement. 

c) The AGENCY shall determine which expenses in the Budget Plan (Appendix 4) 

may be paid as an advance to the GRANTEE, if any, and which expenses will be paid on a cost-

reimbursement basis, with the GRANTEE to submit invoices with supporting documentation to 

justify the reimbursement of expenses. If any amount is paid as an advance payment to 

GRANTEE, the GRANTEE must provide sufficient documentation of usage of the funds for 

allowed purposes under this agreement in order to receive any future payments. 

d) Any funds expended in violation of this Agreement or in violation of appropriate 

Federal, State, and AGENCY requirements shall be refunded in full to the AGENCY. If this 

Agreement is still in force, future payments shall be withheld by the AGENCY. 
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5. Performance Measures. 

The GRANTEE agrees to submit weekly reports on awards to AGENCY including name 

of GRANTEE, purpose of award, amount of award, and service numbers, as well as monthly 

expanded reports that demonstrate services delivered and service trends, and outcomes to 

AGENCY. The AGENCY reserves the right to request additional data elements, performance 

measures, or reports as necessary to ensure that the overall programmatic purpose is demonstrated, 

quantified, and achieved. This report shall be submitted to the AGENCY weekly or monthly, as 

defined and never later than five (5) business days if specifically requested by AGENCY. The 

report formats shall be prescribed and provided by the AGENCY.  

6. Data Sharing. 

The GRANTEE agrees to share data with the AGENCY as necessary for service 

validation, trend review, and performance monitoring.   

7. Insurance. 

GRANTEE will be required to maintain appropriate insurance to cover the Services funded 

for this Agreement.  Before providing any funds under this Agreement, AGENCY will require 

that GRANTEE provide it with proof of insurance covering the Services funded and with policy 

limits and deductible deemed appropriate by AGENCY.  Whether GRANTEE has acceptable 

insurance coverage with appropriate limits and deductible is within the sole discretion of the 

AGENCY.  Said insurance must remain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement 

and may be not changed without written approval of AGENCY.  Failure to maintain the insurance 

approved by AGENCY or any changes to the approved insurance without approval of AGENCY 

will result in termination of this Agreement.  
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8. Monitoring.

GRANTEE will work with AGENCY to meet the requirements of 2 C.F.R. § 200.328 

(Monitoring and reporting program performance). This may include, but is not limited to, the 

following: 

a) The monitoring requirements set forth in Appendix 3 – Minimum Monitoring

Requirements. 

b) GRANTEE will work with the AGENCY to establish policies and procedures as

required. 

c) GRANTEE will cooperate in site visits including, but not limited to, review of

staff, fiscal and client records, programmatic documents, and will provide related information at 

any reasonable time.   

d) GRANTEE will submit other reports and information in such formats and at such

times as may be prescribed by the AGENCY. 

e) All monitoring reports will be as detailed as may be reasonably requested by the

GRANTEE and will be deemed incomplete if not satisfactory to the AGENCY as determined in 

its sole reasonable discretion. Reports will contain the information or be in the format as may be 

requested by the AGENCY.   

9. Special Situations.

GRANTEE agrees to inform AGENCY within one (1) business day of any circumstances 

or events which may reasonably be considered to jeopardize its capability to continue to meet its 

obligations under the terms of this Agreement.  Incidents may include, but are not limited to, those 

resulting in injury, media coverage or public reaction that may have an impact on the AGENCY’S 

or GRANTEE’S ability to protect and serve its participants, or other significant effect on the 
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AGENCY or GRANTEE.  Incidents shall be reported to the designated AGENCY contact below 

by phone or email only.   Incident report information shall not include any identifying information 

of the participant.   

10. Amendment/Modification. 

In addition to applicable federal, state and local statutes and regulations, this Agreement 

expresses the entire understanding of the parties concerning all matters covered herein.  No 

addition to, or alteration of, the terms of this Agreement, whether by written or verbal 

understanding of the parties, their officers, agents or employees, shall be valid unless made in the 

form of a written amendment to this Agreement and formally approved by the parties.   

11. Closeout  

a) Upon termination in whole or in part, the parties hereto remain responsible for 

compliance with the requirements in 2 C.F.R. Part 200.343 (Closeout) and 2 C.F.R. Part 200.344 

(Post-closeout adjustments and continuing responsibilities). 

b) This Agreement will not terminate, unless terminated as provided in Section 11, 

until Closeout is completed consistent with requirements detailed in the Appendices attached 

hereto, and to the satisfaction of the AGENCY. Such requirements shall include but are not limited 

to submitting final reports and providing program deliverables and closeout information as 

requested by AGENCY, and/or the US Treasury Department or its authorized representatives, and 

reconciliation of program funding. 

c) All invoices and requests for reimbursement shall be submitted within 30 days 

following the end of the project and budget period.  

d) All un-spent funds must be reimbursed to the AGENCY by the GRANTEE by 

January 31, 2021. 
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e) This provision shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

12. Termination. 

a) If the GRANTEE fails to fulfill or abide by any of the provisions of this 

Agreement, GRANTEE shall be considered in material breach of the Agreement.  Where a 

material breach can be corrected, GRANTEE shall be given thirty (30) days to cure said breach.  

If GRANTEE fails to cure, or if the breach is of the nature that the harm caused cannot be undone, 

AGENCY may immediately terminate this Agreement, with cause, upon notice in writing to the 

GRANTEE.  

b)  In the event the GRANTEE uses any funds provided by this Agreement for any 

purpose or program other than authorized under this Agreement, the GRANTEE must repay such 

amount to the AGENCY and may in the AGENCY’S sole discretion, be deemed to have waived 

the right to additional funds under this Agreement. 

c) In the event sufficient budgeted funds are not available for a new fiscal period or 

are otherwise encumbered, the AGENCY shall notify the GRANTEE of such occurrence and the 

Agreement shall terminate on the last day of the then current fiscal period without penalty or 

expense to the AGENCY. 

d) The AGENCY or the United States Department of Treasury may terminate this 

agreement in accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.339 (Termination). 

13. Assignment/Subcontracting. 

a) This Agreement, and any rights or obligations hereunder, shall not be assigned, 

transferred or delegated to any other person or entity.  Any purported assignment in violation of 

this section shall be null and void. 

b) The GRANTEE is fully responsible for completion of the Services required by this 
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Agreement and for completion of all subcontractor work, if authorized as provided herein.  The 

GRANTEE shall not subcontract any work under this Agreement to any subcontractor other than 

the subcontractors specified in the proposal and previously approved by the AGENCY, without 

the prior written consent of the AGENCY, which shall be determined by the AGENCY in its sole 

discretion. 

14. Indemnification. 

The GRANTEE agrees to indemnify, pay the cost of defense, including attorney’s fees, 

and hold harmless the AGENCY, its officers, employees and agents from all damages, suits, 

actions or claims, including reasonable attorney’s fees incurred by the AGENCY, of any character 

brought on account of any injuries or damages received or sustained by any person, persons, or 

property, or in any way relating to or arising from the Agreement; or on account of any act or 

omission, neglect or misconduct of GRANTEE; or by, or on account of, any claim or amounts 

recovered under the Workers’ Compensation Law or of any other laws, regulations, ordinance, 

order or decree; or arising from or by reason of any actual or claimed trademark, patent or 

copyright infringement or litigation based thereon; except only such injury or damage as shall have 

been occasioned by the sole negligence of the AGENCY. 

15. Business Practices. 

a) The GRANTEE must utilize financial procedures in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting procedures and Florida Statutes, including adequate 

supporting documents, to account for the use of the funds provided by the 

AGENCY. 

b) The GRANTEE must retain all records (programmatic, property, personnel, and 

financial) relating to this Agreement for five (5) years after final payment is made. 
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c) All GRANTEE records relating to this Agreement are subject to audit by the 

federal government or its representatives, or the AGENCY and its representatives. 

16. Nondiscrimination. 

a) The GRANTEE shall not discriminate against any applicant for employment or 

employee with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employment or any matter 

directly or indirectly related to employment or against any client because of age, sex, race, 

ethnicity, color, religion, national origin, disability, marital status, or sexual orientation.   

b) The GRANTEE shall not discriminate against any person on the basis of age, sex, 

race, ethnicity, color, religion, national origin, disability, marital status or sexual orientation in 

admission, treatment, or participation in its programs, services and activities. 

c) The GRANTEE shall, during the performance of this Agreement, comply with all 

applicable provisions of federal, state and local laws and regulations pertaining to prohibited 

discrimination. 

17. Independent Contractor. 

 It is expressly understood and agreed by the parties that GRANTEE is at all times 

hereunder acting and performing as an independent contractor and not as an agent, servant, or 

employee of the AGENCY.  No agent, employee, or servant of the GRANTEE shall be, or shall 

be deemed to be, the agent or servant of the AGENCY.  None of the benefits provided by the 

AGENCY to their employees including, but not limited to, Worker’s Compensation Insurance 

and Unemployment Insurance are available from AGENCY to the employees, agents, or 

servants of the GRANTEE 

18. Additional Funding. 

Funds from this Agreement may not be used as the matching portion for any federal grant 
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except in the manner provided by Federal and State law and applicable Federal and State rules and 

regulations.  The GRANTEE agrees to make all reasonable efforts to obtain funding from 

additional sources wherever said GRANTEE may qualify.  Should this Agreement reflect a 

required match, documentation of said match is required to be provided to the AGENCY. 

19. Governing Law. 

The laws of the State of Florida shall govern this Agreement. 

20. Conformity to the Law. 

 The GRANTEE shall comply with all federal, state and local laws and ordinances and any 

rules or regulations adopted thereunder, including but not limited to section 601(a) of the Social 

Security Act as added by section 5001 of the CARES Act and regulations applicable thereto. 

21. Prior Agreement, Waiver, and Severability. 

 This Agreement supersedes any prior Agreements between the Parties and is the sole basis 

for agreement between the Parties.  The waiver of either party of a violation or default of any 

provision of this Agreement shall not operate as, or be construed to be, a waiver of any subsequent 

violation or default hereof. If any provision, or any portion thereof, contained in this Agreement 

is held unconstitutional, invalid, or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion 

thereof, shall be deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect.  

22. Agreement Management. 

Pinellas Community Foundation designates the following person(s) as the liaison for the 

AGENCY:   

Duggan Cooley, CEO 

Pinellas Community Foundation 

17755 US Highway 19 North, Suite 150 

Clearwater FL 33764 

727-531-0058 
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GRANTEE designates the following person(s) as the liaison for the GRANTEE: 

Kimberly Rodgers, Executive Director 

727-582-7480

501 1st Ave N Ste 519  

Saint Petersburg, FL 33701-3715 

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 
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IN   WITNESS   WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed on 

the day and year written below. 

Pinellas Community Foundation 

By:  

_______________________________ 

Duggan Cooley 

 CEO 

Date: __________________________ 

GRANTEE: Community Law Program, Inc. 

By:  

___________________________________ 
Kimberly Rodgers, Executive Director 

krodgers@lawprogram.org 

Date: __________________________ 

GRANTEE: Community Law Program, Inc. 

By:  

___________________________________ 
V. James Dickson, President

james.dickson@arlaw.com

Date: __________________________ 
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Schedule of Appendices 

 

Appendix 1 – CARES Act Guidance and Requirements 

 

Appendix 2 – Attestation 

 

Appendix 3 – Minimum Monitoring Requirements 

 

Appendix 4 – Application for Funding (including budget plan) 
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Appendix 1 - CARES Act 
Guidance and Requirements

- Coronavirus Relief Fund, Guidance for State, Territorial, Local,
and Tribal Governments

- Coronavirus Relief Fund  Frequently Asked Questions

- Coronavirus Relief Fund Reporting and Record Retention
Requirements 
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Coronavirus Relief Fund  
Guidance for State, Territorial, Local, and Tribal Governments 

Updated June 30, 20201 

The purpose of this document is to provide guidance to recipients of the funding available under section 
601(a) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 
Security Act (“CARES Act”).  The CARES Act established the Coronavirus Relief Fund (the “Fund”) 
and appropriated $150 billion to the Fund.  Under the CARES Act, the Fund is to be used to make 
payments for specified uses to States and certain local governments; the District of Columbia and U.S. 
Territories (consisting of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the United States Virgin Islands, Guam, 
American Samoa, and the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands); and Tribal governments. 

The CARES Act provides that payments from the Fund may only be used to cover costs that— 

1. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to
the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID–19);

2. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020 (the
date of enactment of the CARES Act) for the State or government; and

3. were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30,
2020.2

The guidance that follows sets forth the Department of the Treasury’s interpretation of these limitations 
on the permissible use of Fund payments. 

Necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency 

The requirement that expenditures be incurred “due to” the public health emergency means that 
expenditures must be used for actions taken to respond to the public health emergency.  These may 
include expenditures incurred to allow the State, territorial, local, or Tribal government to respond 
directly to the emergency, such as by addressing medical or public health needs, as well as expenditures 
incurred to respond to second-order effects of the emergency, such as by providing economic support to 
those suffering from employment or business interruptions due to COVID-19-related business closures. 

Funds may not be used to fill shortfalls in government revenue to cover expenditures that would not 
otherwise qualify under the statute.  Although a broad range of uses is allowed, revenue replacement is 
not a permissible use of Fund payments. 

The statute also specifies that expenditures using Fund payments must be “necessary.”  The Department 
of the Treasury understands this term broadly to mean that the expenditure is reasonably necessary for its 
intended use in the reasonable judgment of the government officials responsible for spending Fund 
payments.  

Costs not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020 

The CARES Act also requires that payments be used only to cover costs that were not accounted for in 
the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020.  A cost meets this requirement if either (a) the 

1 This version updates the guidance provided under “Costs incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, 
and ends on December 30, 2020”. 
2 See Section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the CARES Act.   
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cost cannot lawfully be funded using a line item, allotment, or allocation within that budget or (b) the cost 
is for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item, allotment, or 
allocation.   

The “most recently approved” budget refers to the enacted budget for the relevant fiscal period for the 
particular government, without taking into account subsequent supplemental appropriations enacted or 
other budgetary adjustments made by that government in response to the COVID-19 public health 
emergency.  A cost is not considered to have been accounted for in a budget merely because it could be 
met using a budgetary stabilization fund, rainy day fund, or similar reserve account. 

Costs incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 2020 

Finally, the CARES Act provides that payments from the Fund may only be used to cover costs that were 
incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 2020 (the “covered 
period”).  Putting this requirement together with the other provisions discussed above, section 601(d) may 
be summarized as providing that a State, local, or tribal government may use payments from the Fund 
only to cover previously unbudgeted costs of necessary expenditures incurred due to the COVID–19 
public health emergency during the covered period.   

Initial guidance released on April 22, 2020, provided that the cost of an expenditure is incurred when the 
recipient has expended funds to cover the cost.  Upon further consideration and informed by an 
understanding of State, local, and tribal government practices, Treasury is clarifying that for a cost to be 
considered to have been incurred, performance or delivery must occur during the covered period but 
payment of funds need not be made during that time (though it is generally expected that this will take 
place within 90 days of a cost being incurred).  For instance, in the case of a lease of equipment or other 
property, irrespective of when payment occurs, the cost of a lease payment shall be considered to have 
been incurred for the period of the lease that is within the covered period, but not otherwise.  
Furthermore, in all cases it must be necessary that performance or delivery take place during the covered 
period.  Thus the cost of a good or service received during the covered period will not be considered 
eligible under section 601(d) if there is no need for receipt until after the covered period has expired.   

Goods delivered in the covered period need not be used during the covered period in all cases.  For 
example, the cost of a good that must be delivered in December in order to be available for use in January 
could be covered using payments from the Fund.  Additionally, the cost of goods purchased in bulk and 
delivered during the covered period may be covered using payments from the Fund if a portion of the 
goods is ordered for use in the covered period, the bulk purchase is consistent with the recipient’s usual 
procurement policies and practices, and it is impractical to track and record when the items were used.  A 
recipient may use payments from the Fund to purchase a durable good that is to be used during the current 
period and in subsequent periods if the acquisition in the covered period was necessary due to the public 
health emergency.   

Given that it is not always possible to estimate with precision when a good or service will be needed, the 
touchstone in assessing the determination of need for a good or service during the covered period will be 
reasonableness at the time delivery or performance was sought, e.g., the time of entry into a procurement 
contract specifying a time for delivery.  Similarly, in recognition of the likelihood of supply chain 
disruptions and increased demand for certain goods and services during the COVID-19 public health 
emergency, if a recipient enters into a contract requiring the delivery of goods or performance of services 
by December 30, 2020, the failure of a vendor to complete delivery or services by December 30, 2020, 
will not affect the ability of the recipient to use payments from the Fund to cover the cost of such goods 
or services if the delay is due to circumstances beyond the recipient’s control.   
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This guidance applies in a like manner to costs of subrecipients.  Thus, a grant or loan, for example, 
provided by a recipient using payments from the Fund must be used by the subrecipient only to purchase 
(or reimburse a purchase of) goods or services for which receipt both is needed within the covered period 
and occurs within the covered period.  The direct recipient of payments from the Fund is ultimately 
responsible for compliance with this limitation on use of payments from the Fund.   

Nonexclusive examples of eligible expenditures 

Eligible expenditures include, but are not limited to, payment for: 
1. Medical expenses such as:

• COVID-19-related expenses of public hospitals, clinics, and similar facilities.
• Expenses of establishing temporary public medical facilities and other measures to increase

COVID-19 treatment capacity, including related construction costs.
• Costs of providing COVID-19 testing, including serological testing.
• Emergency medical response expenses, including emergency medical transportation, related

to COVID-19.
• Expenses for establishing and operating public telemedicine capabilities for COVID-19-

related treatment.
2. Public health expenses such as:

• Expenses for communication and enforcement by State, territorial, local, and Tribal
governments of public health orders related to COVID-19.

• Expenses for acquisition and distribution of medical and protective supplies, including
sanitizing products and personal protective equipment, for medical personnel, police officers,
social workers, child protection services, and child welfare officers, direct service providers
for older adults and individuals with disabilities in community settings, and other public
health or safety workers in connection with the COVID-19 public health emergency.

• Expenses for disinfection of public areas and other facilities, e.g., nursing homes, in response
to the COVID-19 public health emergency.

• Expenses for technical assistance to local authorities or other entities on mitigation of
COVID-19-related threats to public health and safety.

• Expenses for public safety measures undertaken in response to COVID-19.
• Expenses for quarantining individuals.

3. Payroll expenses for public safety, public health, health care, human services, and similar
employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-
19 public health emergency.

4. Expenses of actions to facilitate compliance with COVID-19-related public health measures, such
as:
• Expenses for food delivery to residents, including, for example, senior citizens and other

vulnerable populations, to enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions.
• Expenses to facilitate distance learning, including technological improvements, in connection

with school closings to enable compliance with COVID-19 precautions.
• Expenses to improve telework capabilities for public employees to enable compliance with

COVID-19 public health precautions.
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• Expenses of providing paid sick and paid family and medical leave to public employees to
enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions.

• COVID-19-related expenses of maintaining state prisons and county jails, including as relates
to sanitation and improvement of social distancing measures, to enable compliance with
COVID-19 public health precautions.

• Expenses for care for homeless populations provided to mitigate COVID-19 effects and
enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions.

5. Expenses associated with the provision of economic support in connection with the COVID-19
public health emergency, such as:
• Expenditures related to the provision of grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of

business interruption caused by required closures.
• Expenditures related to a State, territorial, local, or Tribal government payroll support

program.
• Unemployment insurance costs related to the COVID-19 public health emergency if such

costs will not be reimbursed by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act or
otherwise.

6. Any other COVID-19-related expenses reasonably necessary to the function of government that
satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria.

Nonexclusive examples of ineligible expenditures3 

The following is a list of examples of costs that would not be eligible expenditures of payments from the 
Fund.  

1. Expenses for the State share of Medicaid.4

2. Damages covered by insurance.
3. Payroll or benefits expenses for employees whose work duties are not substantially dedicated to

mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.
4. Expenses that have been or will be reimbursed under any federal program, such as the

reimbursement by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act of contributions by States
to State unemployment funds.

5. Reimbursement to donors for donated items or services.
6. Workforce bonuses other than hazard pay or overtime.
7. Severance pay.
8. Legal settlements.

3 In addition, pursuant to section 5001(b) of the CARES Act, payments from the Fund may not be expended for an 
elective abortion or on research in which a human embryo is destroyed, discarded, or knowingly subjected to risk of 
injury or death.  The prohibition on payment for abortions does not apply to an abortion if the pregnancy is the result 
of an act of rape or incest; or in the case where a woman suffers from a physical disorder, physical injury, or 
physical illness, including a life-endangering physical condition caused by or arising from the pregnancy itself, that 
would, as certified by a physician, place the woman in danger of death unless an abortion is performed. 
Furthermore, no government which receives payments from the Fund may discriminate against a health care entity 
on the basis that the entity does not provide, pay for, provide coverage of, or refer for abortions.     
4 See 42 C.F.R. § 433.51 and 45 C.F.R. § 75.306. 
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Coronavirus Relief Fund  

Frequently Asked Questions 

Updated as of July 8, 2020 

The following answers to frequently asked questions supplement Treasury’s Coronavirus Relief Fund 

(“Fund”) Guidance for State, Territorial, Local, and Tribal Governments, dated April 22, 2020, 

(“Guidance”).1 Amounts paid from the Fund are subject to the restrictions outlined in the Guidance and 

set forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, 

Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”). 

Eligible Expenditures 

Are governments required to submit proposed expenditures to Treasury for approval? 

No.  Governments are responsible for making determinations as to what expenditures are necessary due to 

the public health emergency with respect to COVID-19 and do not need to submit any proposed 

expenditures to Treasury.   

The Guidance says that funding can be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public health, 

health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to 

mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  How does a government 

determine whether payroll expenses for a given employee satisfy the “substantially dedicated” 

condition? 

The Fund is designed to provide ready funding to address unforeseen financial needs and risks created by 

the COVID-19 public health emergency.  For this reason, and as a matter of administrative convenience 

in light of the emergency nature of this program, a State, territorial, local, or Tribal government may 

presume that payroll costs for public health and public safety employees are payments for services 

substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency, unless the 

chief executive (or equivalent) of the relevant government determines that specific circumstances indicate 

otherwise. 

The Guidance says that a cost was not accounted for in the most recently approved budget if the cost is 

for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item, allotment, or 

allocation.  What would qualify as a “substantially different use” for purposes of the Fund eligibility? 

Costs incurred for a “substantially different use” include, but are not necessarily limited to, costs of 

personnel and services that were budgeted for in the most recently approved budget but which, due 

entirely to the COVID-19 public health emergency, have been diverted to substantially different 

functions.  This would include, for example, the costs of redeploying corrections facility staff to enable 

compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions through work such as enhanced sanitation or 

enforcing social distancing measures; the costs of redeploying police to support management and 

enforcement of stay-at-home orders; or the costs of diverting educational support staff or faculty to 

develop online learning capabilities, such as through providing information technology support that is not 

part of the staff or faculty’s ordinary responsibilities.   

Note that a public function does not become a “substantially different use” merely because it is provided 

from a different location or through a different manner.  For example, although developing online 

instruction capabilities may be a substantially different use of funds, online instruction itself is not a 

substantially different use of public funds than classroom instruction. 

1 The Guidance is available at https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-

State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf. 
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May a State receiving a payment transfer funds to a local government? 

Yes, provided that the transfer qualifies as a necessary expenditure incurred due to the public health 

emergency and meets the other criteria of section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.  Such funds would be 

subject to recoupment by the Treasury Department if they have not been used in a manner consistent with 

section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.   

May a unit of local government receiving a Fund payment transfer funds to another unit of 

government?     

Yes.  For example, a county may transfer funds to a city, town, or school district within the county and a 

county or city may transfer funds to its State, provided that the transfer qualifies as a necessary 

expenditure incurred due to the public health emergency and meets the other criteria of section 601(d) of 

the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  For example, a transfer from a county to a constituent 

city would not be permissible if the funds were intended to be used simply to fill shortfalls in government 

revenue to cover expenditures that would not otherwise qualify as an eligible expenditure. 

Is a Fund payment recipient required to transfer funds to a smaller, constituent unit of government 

within its borders?     

No.  For example, a county recipient is not required to transfer funds to smaller cities within the county’s 

borders.   

Are recipients required to use other federal funds or seek reimbursement under other federal programs 

before using Fund payments to satisfy eligible expenses?   

No.  Recipients may use Fund payments for any expenses eligible under section 601(d) of the Social 

Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  Fund payments are not required to be used as the source of 

funding of last resort.  However, as noted below, recipients may not use payments from the Fund to cover 

expenditures for which they will receive reimbursement.   

Are there prohibitions on combining a transaction supported with Fund payments with other CARES 

Act funding or COVID-19 relief Federal funding? 

Recipients will need to consider the applicable restrictions and limitations of such other sources of 

funding.  In addition, expenses that have been or will be reimbursed under any federal program, such as 

the reimbursement by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act of contributions by States to 

State unemployment funds, are not eligible uses of Fund payments.   

Are States permitted to use Fund payments to support state unemployment insurance funds generally? 

To the extent that the costs incurred by a state unemployment insurance fund are incurred due to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency, a State may use Fund payments to make payments to its respective 

state unemployment insurance fund, separate and apart from such State’s obligation to the unemployment 

insurance fund as an employer.  This will permit States to use Fund payments to prevent expenses related 

to the public health emergency from causing their state unemployment insurance funds to become 

insolvent.   
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Are recipients permitted to use Fund payments to pay for unemployment insurance costs incurred by 

the recipient as an employer?  

Yes, Fund payments may be used for unemployment insurance costs incurred by the recipient as an 

employer (for example, as a reimbursing employer) related to the COVID-19 public health emergency if 

such costs will not be reimbursed by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act or otherwise.  

The Guidance states that the Fund may support a “broad range of uses” including payroll expenses for 

several classes of employees whose services are “substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to 

the COVID-19 public health emergency.”  What are some examples of types of covered employees?  

The Guidance provides examples of broad classes of employees whose payroll expenses would be eligible 

expenses under the Fund.  These classes of employees include public safety, public health, health care, 

human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or 

responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  Payroll and benefit costs associated with public 

employees who could have been furloughed or otherwise laid off but who were instead repurposed to 

perform previously unbudgeted functions substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency are also covered.  Other eligible expenditures include payroll and 

benefit costs of educational support staff or faculty responsible for developing online learning capabilities 

necessary to continue educational instruction in response to COVID-19-related school closures.  Please 

see the Guidance for a discussion of what is meant by an expense that was not accounted for in the budget 

most recently approved as of March 27, 2020.   

In some cases, first responders and critical health care workers that contract COVID-19 are eligible 

for workers’ compensation coverage.  Is the cost of this expanded workers compensation coverage 

eligible? 

Increased workers compensation cost to the government due to the COVID-19 public health emergency 

incurred during the period beginning March 1, 2020, and ending December 30, 2020, is an eligible 

expense. 

If a recipient would have decommissioned equipment or not renewed a lease on particular office space 

or equipment but decides to continue to use the equipment or to renew the lease in order to respond to 

the public health emergency, are the costs associated with continuing to operate the equipment or the 

ongoing lease payments eligible expenses? 

Yes.  To the extent the expenses were previously unbudgeted and are otherwise consistent with section 

601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance, such expenses would be eligible. 

May recipients provide stipends to employees for eligible expenses (for example, a stipend to employees 

to improve telework capabilities) rather than require employees to incur the eligible cost and submit for 

reimbursement? 

Expenditures paid for with payments from the Fund must be limited to those that are necessary due to the 

public health emergency.  As such, unless the government were to determine that providing assistance in 

the form of a stipend is an administrative necessity, the government should provide such assistance on a 

reimbursement basis to ensure as much as possible that funds are used to cover only eligible expenses.    
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May Fund payments be used for COVID-19 public health emergency recovery planning? 

Yes.  Expenses associated with conducting a recovery planning project or operating a recovery 

coordination office would be eligible, if the expenses otherwise meet the criteria set forth in section 

601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance. 

Are expenses associated with contact tracing eligible? 

Yes, expenses associated with contract tracing are eligible. 

To what extent may a government use Fund payments to support the operations of private hospitals? 

Governments may use Fund payments to support public or private hospitals to the extent that the costs are 

necessary expenditures incurred due to the COVID-19 public health emergency, but the form such 

assistance would take may differ.  In particular, financial assistance to private hospitals could take the 

form of a grant or a short-term loan. 

May payments from the Fund be used to assist individuals with enrolling in a government benefit 

program for those who have been laid off due to COVID-19 and thereby lost health insurance? 

Yes.  To the extent that the relevant government official determines that these expenses are necessary and 

they meet the other requirements set forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the 

Guidance, these expenses are eligible. 

May recipients use Fund payments to facilitate livestock depopulation incurred by producers due to 

supply chain disruptions? 

Yes, to the extent these efforts are deemed necessary for public health reasons or as a form of economic 

support as a result of the COVID-19 health emergency. 

Would providing a consumer grant program to prevent eviction and assist in preventing homelessness 

be considered an eligible expense? 

Yes, assuming that the recipient considers the grants to be a necessary expense incurred due to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency and the grants meet the other requirements for the use of Fund 

payments under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  As a general matter, 

providing assistance to recipients to enable them to meet property tax requirements would not be an 

eligible use of funds, but exceptions may be made in the case of assistance designed to prevent 

foreclosures. 

May recipients create a “payroll support program” for public employees? 

Use of payments from the Fund to cover payroll or benefits expenses of public employees are limited to 

those employees whose work duties are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency.   

May recipients use Fund payments to cover employment and training programs for employees that 

have been furloughed due to the public health emergency?  

Yes, this would be an eligible expense if the government determined that the costs of such employment 

and training programs would be necessary due to the public health emergency. 
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May recipients use Fund payments to provide emergency financial assistance to individuals and 

families directly impacted by a loss of income due to the COVID-19 public health emergency?   

Yes, if a government determines such assistance to be a necessary expenditure.  Such assistance could 

include, for example, a program to assist individuals with payment of overdue rent or mortgage payments 

to avoid eviction or foreclosure or unforeseen financial costs for funerals and other emergency individual 

needs.  Such assistance should be structured in a manner to ensure as much as possible, within the realm 

of what is administratively feasible, that such assistance is necessary. 

The Guidance provides that eligible expenditures may include expenditures related to the provision of 

grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures. 

What is meant by a “small business,” and is the Guidance intended to refer only to expenditures to 

cover administrative expenses of such a grant program? 

Governments have discretion to determine what payments are necessary.  A program that is aimed at 

assisting small businesses with the costs of business interruption caused by required closures should be 

tailored to assist those businesses in need of such assistance.  The amount of a grant to a small business to 

reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures would also be an eligible 

expenditure under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as outlined in the Guidance.   

The Guidance provides that expenses associated with the provision of economic support in connection 

with the public health emergency, such as expenditures related to the provision of grants to small 

businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures, would 

constitute eligible expenditures of Fund payments.  Would such expenditures be eligible in the absence 

of a stay-at-home order?  

Fund payments may be used for economic support in the absence of a stay-at-home order if such 

expenditures are determined by the government to be necessary.  This may include, for example, a grant 

program to benefit small businesses that close voluntarily to promote social distancing measures or that 

are affected by decreased customer demand as a result of the COVID-19 public health emergency.   

May Fund payments be used to assist impacted property owners with the payment of their property 

taxes? 

Fund payments may not be used for government revenue replacement, including the provision of 

assistance to meet tax obligations.    

May Fund payments be used to replace foregone utility fees?  If not, can Fund payments be used as a 

direct subsidy payment to all utility account holders?  

Fund payments may not be used for government revenue replacement, including the replacement of 

unpaid utility fees.  Fund payments may be used for subsidy payments to electricity account holders to the 

extent that the subsidy payments are deemed by the recipient to be necessary expenditures incurred due to 

the COVID-19 public health emergency and meet the other criteria of section 601(d) of the Social 

Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  For example, if determined to be a necessary expenditure, a 

government could provide grants to individuals facing economic hardship to allow them to pay their 

utility fees and thereby continue to receive essential services.   
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Could Fund payments be used for capital improvement projects that broadly provide potential 

economic development in a community?  

In general, no.  If capital improvement projects are not necessary expenditures incurred due to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency, then Fund payments may not be used for such projects. 

However, Fund payments may be used for the expenses of, for example, establishing temporary public 

medical facilities and other measures to increase COVID-19 treatment capacity or improve mitigation 

measures, including related construction costs. 

The Guidance includes workforce bonuses as an example of ineligible expenses but provides that 

hazard pay would be eligible if otherwise determined to be a necessary expense.  Is there a specific 

definition of “hazard pay”? 

Hazard pay means additional pay for performing hazardous duty or work involving physical hardship, in 

each case that is related to COVID-19.  

The Guidance provides that ineligible expenditures include “[p]ayroll or benefits expenses for 

employees whose work duties are not substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 

COVID-19 public health emergency.”  Is this intended to relate only to public employees? 

Yes.  This particular nonexclusive example of an ineligible expenditure relates to public employees.  A 

recipient would not be permitted to pay for payroll or benefit expenses of private employees and any 

financial assistance (such as grants or short-term loans) to private employers are not subject to the 

restriction that the private employers’ employees must be substantially dedicated to mitigating or 

responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

May counties pre-pay with CARES Act funds for expenses such as a one or two-year facility lease, 

such as to house staff hired in response to COVID-19? 

A government should not make prepayments on contracts using payments from the Fund to the extent that 

doing so would not be consistent with its ordinary course policies and procedures.   

Must a stay-at-home order or other public health mandate be in effect in order for a government to 

provide assistance to small businesses using payments from the Fund? 

No. The Guidance provides, as an example of an eligible use of payments from the Fund, expenditures 

related to the provision of grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption 

caused by required closures.  Such assistance may be provided using amounts received from the Fund in 

the absence of a requirement to close businesses if the relevant government determines that such 

expenditures are necessary in response to the public health emergency.   
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Should States receiving a payment transfer funds to local governments that did not receive payments 

directly from Treasury? 

Yes, provided that the transferred funds are used by the local government for eligible expenditures under 

the statute.  To facilitate prompt distribution of Title V funds, the CARES Act authorized Treasury to 

make direct payments to local governments with populations in excess of 500,000, in amounts equal to 

45% of the local government’s per capita share of the statewide allocation.  This statutory structure was 

based on a recognition that it is more administratively feasible to rely on States, rather than the federal 

government, to manage the transfer of funds to smaller local governments.  Consistent with the needs of 

all local governments for funding to address the public health emergency, States should transfer funds to 

local governments with populations of 500,000 or less, using as a benchmark the per capita allocation 

formula that governs payments to larger local governments.  This approach will ensure equitable 

treatment among local governments of all sizes. 

For example, a State received the minimum $1.25 billion allocation and had one county with a population 

over 500,000 that received $250 million directly.  The State should distribute 45 percent of the $1 billion 

it received, or $450 million, to local governments within the State with a population of 500,000 or less.   

May a State impose restrictions on transfers of funds to local governments? 

Yes, to the extent that the restrictions facilitate the State’s compliance with the requirements set forth in 

section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance and other applicable requirements such 

as the Single Audit Act, discussed below.  Other restrictions are not permissible. 

If a recipient must issue tax anticipation notes (TANs) to make up for tax due date deferrals or revenue 

shortfalls, are the expenses associated with the issuance eligible uses of Fund payments? 

If a government determines that the issuance of TANs is necessary due to the COVID-19 public health 

emergency, the government may expend payments from the Fund on the interest expense payable on 

TANs by the borrower and unbudgeted administrative and transactional costs, such as necessary 

payments to advisors and underwriters, associated with the issuance of the TANs. 

May recipients use Fund payments to expand rural broadband capacity to assist with distance learning 

and telework? 

Such expenditures would only be permissible if they are necessary for the public health emergency.  The 

cost of projects that would not be expected to increase capacity to a significant extent until the need for 

distance learning and telework have passed due to this public health emergency would not be necessary 

due to the public health emergency and thus would not be eligible uses of Fund payments.   

Are costs associated with increased solid waste capacity an eligible use of payments from the Fund? 

Yes, costs to address increase in solid waste as a result of the public health emergency, such as relates to 

the disposal of used personal protective equipment, would be an eligible expenditure. 

May payments from the Fund be used to cover across-the-board hazard pay for employees working 

during a state of emergency?   

No.  The Guidance says that funding may be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public 

health, health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to 

mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  Hazard pay is a form of payroll 

expense and is subject to this limitation, so Fund payments may only be used to cover hazard pay for such 

individuals.     
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May Fund payments be used for expenditures related to the administration of Fund payments by a 

State, territorial, local, or Tribal government?    

Yes, if the administrative expenses represent an increase over previously budgeted amounts and are 

limited to what is necessary.  For example, a State may expend Fund payments on necessary 

administrative expenses incurred with respect to a new grant program established to disburse amounts 

received from the Fund.    

May recipients use Fund payments to provide loans? 

Yes, if the loans otherwise qualify as eligible expenditures under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act 

as implemented by the Guidance.  Any amounts repaid by the borrower before December 30, 2020, must 

be either returned to Treasury upon receipt by the unit of government providing the loan or used for 

another expense that qualifies as an eligible expenditure under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.  

Any amounts not repaid by the borrower until after December 30, 2020, must be returned to Treasury 

upon receipt by the unit of government lending the funds. 

May Fund payments be used for expenditures necessary to prepare for a future COVID-19 outbreak? 

Fund payments may be used only for expenditures necessary to address the current COVID-19 public 

health emergency.  For example, a State may spend Fund payments to create a reserve of personal 

protective equipment or develop increased intensive care unit capacity to support regions in its 

jurisdiction not yet affected, but likely to be impacted by the current COVID-19 pandemic. 

May funds be used to satisfy non-federal matching requirements under the Stafford Act? 

Yes, payments from the Fund may be used to meet the non-federal matching requirements for Stafford 

Act assistance to the extent such matching requirements entail COVID-19-related costs that otherwise 

satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria and the Stafford Act.  Regardless of the use of Fund payments for 

such purposes, FEMA funding is still dependent on FEMA’s determination of eligibility under the 

Stafford Act. 

Must a State, local, or tribal government require applications to be submitted by businesses or 

individuals before providing assistance using payments from the Fund? 

Governments have discretion to determine how to tailor assistance programs they establish in response to 

the COVID-19 public health emergency.  However, such a program should be structured in such a manner 

as will ensure that such assistance is determined to be necessary in response to the COVID-19 public 

health emergency and otherwise satisfies the requirements of the CARES Act and other applicable law.  

For example, a per capita payment to residents of a particular jurisdiction without an assessment of 

individual need would not be an appropriate use of payments from the Fund.   

May Fund payments be provided to non-profits for distribution to individuals in need of financial 

assistance, such as rent relief?  

Yes, non-profits may be used to distribute assistance.  Regardless of how the assistance is structured, the 

financial assistance provided would have to be related to COVID-19.   

May recipients use Fund payments to remarket the recipient’s convention facilities and tourism 

industry? 

Yes, if the costs of such remarketing satisfy the requirements of the CARES Act.  Expenses incurred to 

publicize the resumption of activities and steps taken to ensure a safe experience may be needed due to 
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the public health emergency.  Expenses related to developing a long-term plan to reposition a recipient’s 

convention and tourism industry and infrastructure would not be incurred due to the public health 

emergency and therefore may not be covered using payments from the Fund.   

May a State provide assistance to farmers and meat processors to expand capacity, such to cover 

overtime for USDA meat inspectors? 

If a State determines that expanding meat processing capacity, including by paying overtime to USDA 

meat inspectors, is a necessary expense incurred due to the public health emergency, such as if increased 

capacity is necessary to allow farmers and processors to donate meat to food banks, then such expenses 

are eligible expenses, provided that the expenses satisfy the other requirements set forth in section 601(d) 

of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  

The guidance provides that funding may be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public 

health, health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated 

to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  May Fund payments be used to 

cover such an employee’s entire payroll cost or just the portion of time spent on mitigating or 

responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency?   

As a matter of administrative convenience, the entire payroll cost of an employee whose time is 

substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency is eligible, 

provided that such payroll costs are incurred by December 30, 2020.  An employer may also track time 

spent by employees related to COVID-19 and apply Fund payments on that basis but would need to do so 

consistently within the relevant agency or department. 

May Fund payments be used to cover increased administrative leave costs of public employees 

who could not telework in the event of a stay at home order or a case of COVID-19 in the 

workplace? 

The statute requires that payments be used only to cover costs that were not accounted for in the 

budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020.  As stated in the Guidance, a cost meets 

this requirement if either (a) the cost cannot lawfully be funded using a line item, allotment, or 

allocation within that budget or (b) the cost is for a substantially different use from any expected 

use of funds in such a line item, allotment, or allocation.  If the cost of an employee was 

allocated to administrative leave to a greater extent than was expected, the cost of such 

administrative leave may be covered using payments from the Fund.   

Questions Related to Administration of Fund Payments 

Do governments have to return unspent funds to Treasury? 

Yes. Section 601(f)(2) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001(a) of the CARES Act, 

provides for recoupment by the Department of the Treasury of amounts received from the Fund that have 

not been used in a manner consistent with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. If a government has 

not used funds it has received to cover costs that were incurred by December 30, 2020, as required by the 

statute, those funds must be returned to the Department of the Treasury. 

What records must be kept by governments receiving payment? 
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A government should keep records sufficient to demonstrate that the amount of Fund payments to the 

government has been used in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. 

May recipients deposit Fund payments into interest bearing accounts?  

Yes, provided that if recipients separately invest amounts received from the Fund, they must use the 

interest earned or other proceeds of these investments only to cover expenditures incurred in accordance 

with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act and the Guidance on eligible expenses.  If a government 

deposits Fund payments in a government’s general account, it may use those funds to meet immediate 

cash management needs provided that the full amount of the payment is used to cover necessary 

expenditures.  Fund payments are not subject to the Cash Management Improvement Act of 1990, as 

amended. 

May governments retain assets purchased with payments from the Fund? 

Yes, if the purchase of the asset was consistent with the limitations on the eligible use of funds provided 

by section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.  

What rules apply to the proceeds of disposition or sale of assets acquired using payments from the 

Fund? 

If such assets are disposed of prior to December 30, 2020, the proceeds would be subject to the 

restrictions on the eligible use of payments from the Fund provided by section 601(d) of the Social 

Security Act. 

Are Fund payments to State, territorial, local, and tribal governments considered grants?   

No.  Fund payments made by Treasury to State, territorial, local, and Tribal governments are not 

considered to be grants but are “other financial assistance” under 2 C.F.R. § 200.40.  

Are Fund payments considered federal financial assistance for purposes of the Single Audit Act? 

Yes, Fund payments are considered to be federal financial assistance subject to the Single Audit Act (31 

U.S.C. §§ 7501-7507) and the related provisions of the Uniform Guidance, 2 C.F.R. § 200.303 regarding 

internal controls, §§ 200.330 through 200.332 regarding subrecipient monitoring and management, and 

subpart F regarding audit requirements. 

Are Fund payments subject to other requirements of the Uniform Guidance? 

Fund payments are subject to the following requirements in the Uniform Guidance (2 C.F.R. Part 200): 2 

C.F.R. § 200.303 regarding internal controls, 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.330 through 200.332 regarding subrecipient

monitoring and management, and subpart F regarding audit requirements.

Is there a Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number assigned to the Fund? 

Yes. The CFDA number assigned to the Fund is 21.019. 

If a State transfers Fund payments to its political subdivisions, would the transferred funds count 

toward the subrecipients’ total funding received from the federal government for purposes of the 

Single Audit Act? 

Yes.  The Fund payments to subrecipients would count toward the threshold of the Single Audit Act and 2 

C.F.R. part 200, subpart F re: audit requirements.  Subrecipients are subject to a single audit or program-
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specific audit pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.501(a) when the subrecipients spend $750,000 or more in federal 

awards during their fiscal year. 

Are recipients permitted to use payments from the Fund to cover the expenses of an audit conducted 

under the Single Audit Act? 

Yes, such expenses would be eligible expenditures, subject to the limitations set forth in 2 C.F.R. § 

200.425. 

If a government has transferred funds to another entity, from which entity would the Treasury 

Department seek to recoup the funds if they have not been used in a manner consistent with section 

601(d) of the Social Security Act? 

The Treasury Department would seek to recoup the funds from the government that received the payment 

directly from the Treasury Department.  State, territorial, local, and Tribal governments receiving funds 

from Treasury should ensure that funds transferred to other entities, whether pursuant to a grant program 

or otherwise, are used in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act as implemented in the 

Guidance. 
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OFFICE OF 
INSPECTOR GENERAL 

D E P AR T M E N T  O F  T H E T R E AS U R Y  
WASHINGTON, D.C.  20220 

1 

July 2, 2020 

OIG-CA-20-021 

MEMORANDUM FOR CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUND RECIPIENTS 

FROM: Richard K. Delmar /s/ 
Deputy Inspector General 

SUBJECT: Coronavirus Relief Fund Reporting and Record Retention 
Requirements 

Title VI of the Social Security Act, as amended by Title V of Division A of the 
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (Public Law 115-136), provides 
that the Department of the Treasury (Treasury) Office of Inspector General (OIG) is 
responsible for monitoring and oversight of the receipt, disbursement, and use of 
Coronavirus Relief Fund payments. Treasury OIG also has authority to recover 
funds in the event that it is determined a recipient of a Coronavirus Relief Fund 
payment failed to comply with requirements of subsection 601(d) of the Social 
Security Act, as amended, (42 U.S.C. 801(d)). Accordingly, we are providing 
recipient reporting and record retention requirements that are essential for the 
exercise of these responsibilities, including our conduct of audits and 
investigations.  

Reporting Requirements and Timelines 

Each prime recipient of Coronavirus Relief Fund payments1

1 Prime recipients include all 50 States, Units of Local Governments, the District of Columbia, U.S. 
Territories, and Tribal Governments that received a direct payment from Treasury in accordance 
with Title V.

 shall report Coronavirus 
Disease 2019 (COVID-19) related “costs incurred” during the “covered period”2

2 Refer to Treasury’s guidance dated June 30, 2020 for more information on costs incurred and the 
covered period. 

 
(the period beginning on March 1, 2020 and ending on December 30, 2020), in the 
manner of and according to the timelines outlined in this memorandum. As 
described below, each prime recipient shall report interim and quarterly data and 
other recipient data according to these requirements. Treasury OIG is working on 
development of a portal with GrantSolutions3

3 A grant management service provider under the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.  

 that is expected to be operational on
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September 1, 2020, for recipients to report data on a quarterly basis. Until the 
GrantSolutions portal is operational, each prime recipient shall follow the interim 
reporting requirements. Treasury OIG will notify each prime recipient when 
GrantSolutions is operational or of any changes to the expected September 1, 2020 
start date.  

Interim Reporting for the period March 1 through June 30, 2020 

By no later than July 17, 2020, each prime recipient is responsible for reporting costs 
incurred during the period March 1 through June 30, 2020. For this interim report, prime 
recipients need only report totals by the following broad categories: 

a. Amount transferred to other governments; 
b. Amount spent on payroll for public health and safety employees; 
c. Amount spent on budgeted personnel and services diverted to a substantially 

different use; 
d. Amount spent to improve telework capabilities of public employees; 
e. Amount spent on medical expenses;  
f. Amount spent on public health expenses; 
g. Amount spent to facilitate distance learning; 
h. Amount spent providing economic support; 
i. Amount spent on expenses associated with the issuance of tax anticipation notes; 

and 
j. Amount spent on items not listed above. 

Recipients should consult Treasury’s guidance and Frequently Asked Questions in 
reporting costs incurred during the period March 1 through June 30, 2020. The total of 
all categories must equal the total of all costs incurred during that period. A spreadsheet 
is attached for your use in providing the data. As discussed below, the prime recipient 
will be required to report information for the period March 1 through June 30, 2020 into 
GrantSolutions once it is operational. 

Quarterly Reporting  

Each prime recipient of Coronavirus Relief Fund payments shall report COVID-19 related 
costs into the GrantSolutions portal. Data required to be reported includes, but is not 
limited to, the following: 

1. the total amount of payments from the Coronavirus Relief Fund received from 
Treasury; 

2. the amount of funds received that were expended or obligated for each project or 
activity; 

3. a detailed list of all projects or activities for which funds were expended or 
obligated, including: 

a. the name of the project or activity;  
b. a description of the project or activity; and 
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4. detailed information on any loans issued; contracts and grants awarded; transfers
made to other government entities; and direct payments made by the recipient
that are greater than $50,000.

The prime recipient is responsible for reporting into the GrantSolutions portal information 
on uses of Coronavirus Relief Fund payments.  

Recipient Portal Access: For future quarterly reporting, each prime recipient will have 
GrantSolutions portal access for three (3) individuals: two (2) designees (preparers) to 
input quarterly data and one (1) official authorized to certify that the data is true, 
accurate, and complete.4

4 The certifying official is an authorized representative of the recipient organization with the legal authority 
to give assurances, make commitments, enter into contracts, and execute such documents on behalf of 
the recipient.

 By no later than July 17, 2020, please provide the name, title, 
email address, phone number, and postal address of these individuals so that portal 
access can be granted. After this information is received, guidance on the 
GrantSolutions portal access and data submission instructions will be issued separately. 

Reporting timeline 

By no later than September 21, 2020, recipients shall submit via the portal the first 
detailed quarterly report, which shall cover the period March 1 through June 30, 2020. 
Thereafter, quarterly reporting will be due no later than 10 days after each calendar 
quarter. For example, the period July 1 through September 30, 2020, must be reported 
no later than October 13, 2020 (Tuesday after the 10th day of October and the 
Columbus Day Holiday). Reporting shall end with either the calendar quarter after the 
COVID-19 related costs and expenditures have been liquidated and paid or the calendar 
quarter ending September 30, 2021, whichever comes first.  

Record Retention Requirements 

Recipients of Coronavirus Relief Fund payments shall maintain and make available to the 
Treasury OIG upon request all documents and financial records sufficient to establish 
compliance with subsection 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as amended, (42 U.S.C. 
801(d)), which provides: 

(d) USE OF FUNDS.—A State, Tribal government, and unit of local government shall use
the funds provided under a payment made under this section to cover only those costs
of the State, Tribal government, or unit of local government that—

1. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency
with respect to COVID-19;

2. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of the date
of enactment of this section for the State or government; and
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3. were incurred5

5 Refer to Treasury’s guidance dated June 30, 2020 for more information on the definition of costs 
incurred. 

 during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and 
ends on December 30, 2020. 

Records to support compliance with subsection 601(d) may include, but are not 
limited to, copies of the following: 

1. general ledger and subsidiary ledgers used to account for (a) the 
receipt of Coronavirus Relief Fund payments and (b) the disbursements 
from such payments to meet eligible expenses related to the public 
health emergency due to COVID-19; 

2. budget records for 2019 and 2020; 
3. payroll, time records, human resource records to support costs 

incurred for payroll expenses related to addressing the public health 
emergency due to COVID-19; 

4. receipts of purchases made related to addressing the public health 
emergency due to COVID-19; 

5. contracts and subcontracts entered into using Coronavirus Relief Fund 
payments and all documents related to such contracts; 

6. grant agreements and grant subaward agreements entered into using 
Coronavirus Relief Fund payments and all documents related to such 
awards; 

7. all documentation of reports, audits, and other monitoring of 
contractors, including subcontractors, and grant recipient and 
subrecipients;  

8. all documentation supporting the performance outcomes of contracts, 
subcontracts, grant awards, and grant recipient subawards;  

9. all internal and external email/electronic communications related to use 
of Coronavirus Relief Fund payments; and 

10. all investigative files and inquiry reports involving Coronavirus Relief 
Fund payments. 

Records shall be maintained for a period of five (5) years after final payment is 
made using Coronavirus Relief Fund monies. These record retention requirements 
are applicable to all prime recipients and their grantees and subgrant recipients, 
contractors, and other levels of government that received transfers of Coronavirus 
Relief Fund payments from prime recipients. 

Thank you and we appreciate your assistance. 
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Appendix 2 - Attestation 

 

ATTESTATION 

 

I, _________________________________, am the Title: ______________________ of Name of  

Organization: _________________________________, and I certify that: 

1. I have the authority on behalf of ____________________________________________  
______________________(Organization) to sign this Attestation. 
 

2. I understand that the Pinellas Community Foundation will rely on this attestation as a 
material representation in making a direct payment to this Organization. 
 

3. ________________________________________ (Organization) attests that proposed 
expenditures of this grant are appropriate and aligned with the awarded proposal, are for 
services related COVID-19 impacts to residents and/or the community on or after March 
1, 2020, do not supplant existing services or budgets, and are not reimbursable by 
alternate means. 
 

4. ________________________________________ (Organization) attests it will only 
expend funds from this grant which are appropriate and aligned with the awarded 
proposal, are for services related COVID-19 impacts to residents and/or the community 
on or after March 1, 2020, and do not supplant existing services or budgets, and are not 
reimbursable by alternate means. 
 

 

By: ___________________________________(Printed Name) 

 

Signature: ________________________________ 

 

Title: ____________________________________ 

 

Date: ____________________________________ 
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APPENDIX 3 – Minimum Monitoring Requirements 

 

1. Mandatory training provided by PCF at onset of grant re: fiscal and accountability 

2. Advanced funds or reimbursement-based payments 

3. Monthly report showing all invoice support, including detail timesheets and paystub with 

allocation between payroll supporting this grant and others 

4. For advanced funds, current balance remaining 

5. Obtain close-out report from grantee and reconcile to internal records 
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Appendix 4 – Application for Funding (including budget plan) 
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Pinellas Eviction Diversion Program

Pinellas CARES Nonprofit Partnership Fund

 

Community Law Program
Mrs. Kimberly Lorraine Rodgers 
501 1st Ave N Ste 519
Saint Petersburg, FL 33701-3715

clp@lawprogram.org
O: 727-582-7480

Mrs. Kimberly Lorraine  Rodgers  
501 1st Ave N Ste 519
Saint Petersburg, FL 33701-3715

krodgers@lawprogram.org
O: 727-582-7295
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Application Form

Introduction
NOTE: If your organization is awarded a grant, it is likely to be issued on a cost-reimbursement basis. Please 
consider this when developing your request and project start date.

Submission of an application is not a guarantee or commitment of funding. This application will be made 
public, in its entirety, including any attachments or uploads.

To see the rubric by which your organization's application will be scored, click here.

Please answer these questions FIRST, as the application will show you the required sections and fields to 
complete based on your answers.

Priority Funding Areas* 
Please select the priority area(s) most relevant to your request (see the PCF website for examples).

Eviction Mitigation through Legal Aid

Reimbursement* 
The Pinellas CARES Nonprofit Partnership Fund allows requests to ask for reimbursement of expenditures related 
to COVID-19 programming within the Priority Funding Areas that took place between March 1, 2020 and the time 
of application.

Will your organization be applying for this cost reimbursement?

No

Future Programming* 

Will your organization be applying for funding for services to be delivered between the grant award decision 
and December 30, 2020?

Yes

Project Name* 
Pinellas Eviction Diversion Program
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EIN* 
59-2970727

DUNS Number* 
Please provide your organization's DUNS number. This is the Data Universal Numbering System.

You can search for your DUNS number here: https://www.dnb.com/duns-number/lookup.html

If you do not have a DUNS number, you can apply for one here (it is free and may take 3-4 days for approval): 
https://www.dnb.com/duns-number/get-a-duns.html

This field is optional as to not stop a qualifying organization from applying. HOWEVER, a DUNS number will be 
required if your organization is approved for a grant. Your organization should apply for a DUNS number now if it 
does not yet have one.

791389828

Mission Statement* 
Community Law Program exists to empower the most vulnerable in our community through the 

provision of free civil legal assistance and representation, education about legal rights and responsibilities, 
and community outreach.

Total Operating Expenditure* 
What are your total annual operating expenses?

$899,865.86

Amount Requested* 

Please review the entire application and its fiscal requirements before 
determining the total amount your organization will be requesting. This amount 
should include any reimbursements your organization is seeking for past COVID-
19 programming.
Typical funding requests will range between $25,000 and $250,000. Amounts above and below are accepted, 
provided the request can be justified by community need.
Requests at the higher end, or above this range must have a significant and sustained impact on the vulnerable 
community being served. Your organization's capacity for spending a large amount of funds must also be justified.

$694,014.00
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If you are requesting more than $250,000 or a large capital expenditure, please speak with PCF program staff 
to discuss the feasibility of your request PRIOR TO submission.

Priority Populations* 
Please select the priority populations your programming will serve:
Note: Examples of "high-risk pandemic response jobs" include front-line workers, nurses, medical housekeeping 
staff, nonprofit employees, law-enforcement and medical first responders.

Communities of color
Children and/or the elderly
Persons employed in high-risk pandemic response jobs
Residents with language barriers
Persons with disabilities
Low-income families

Guiding Principles* 
One of the guiding principles of this fund is that it will apply a lens of equity to ensure the needs of specified 
priority populations are met.
From the priority populations you have indicated above, please explain to what extent one or more these 
populations are involved in the creation, design, and impact of your organization (or this specific project).

Our organization is led by a dynamic, African-American woman with a disability, whose vision and 
consensus building led to the start of the eviction mediation pilot program within our local court.  In the 
course of our work helping tenants navigate the eviction process in general and Black tenants in particular in 
south St. Petersburg, we have asked them whether they were accessing 211 dollars to avoid eviction.  The 
theme from these conversations is that they don’t trust systems, and as a result, they end up not getting the 
help they need.  When these same people find their way to legal aid, however, they typically quickly realize 
that we are a system they can trust.  With a robust outreach strategy, our eviction mediation program can be 
a bridge that links tenants who need CARES dollars to pay their past due rent and landlords willing to accept 
these dollars so that the most vulnerable in our community can avoid becoming homeless at such a critical 
time.

Length of time operating program/project* 
Please briefly explain how long you have been operating the program or project for which you are requesting 
funds. This funding is for expansion of existing programming or sustaining an existing expansion to meet 
community needs.

In 2018, we worked with our judiciary to start a post-suit mediation program for eviction cases filed in 
the St. Petersburg courthouse, which launched in Jan. 2019.  For > 20 years, we have helped tenants facing 
eviction throughout Pinellas County.

Service Area* 
In which areas of the county do you physically provide services?

North County (locations such as Tarpon Springs, Crystal Beach, Palm Harbor)
Mid-County (locations such as Clearwater, Largo, Safety Harbor)
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South County (locations such as St. Petersburg, Lealman, Kenneth City)

Impact on Organization* 
What has been the impact of the coronavirus/COVID-19 on the services of your organization? (Example: inability to 
provide enough food, unable to provide behavioral health sessions, lack of volunteerism, etc.)

Since COVID-19, the post-suit eviction mediation program that we helped our local judiciary implement, 
which was proceeding in-person at the St. Petersburg courthouse, has been on hold.  The program was halted, 
primarily because an Administrative Order of the Florida Supreme Court suspended all non-essential in-
person court-proceedings and because of Governor DeSantis’ Executive Orders temporarily suspending 
eviction proceedings.  

In addition to these challenges, we have had an increase in demand for free legal services since COVID-19, 
and we anticipate an even greater increase with regard to evictions once the moratorium is lifted.  Further, 
because of the pandemic, our  the majority of our operations have been virtual.  Most of the agencies we 
routinely partner with in terms of outreach are also operating virtually.  As a consequence, it been challenging 
for us to engage in outreach activities.  Finally, nearly 90% of the free legal services of our organization are 
provided by private attorneys who volunteer their time and talents to serving our clients.  Since COVID-19, 
our volunteer hours have decreased by 54% over the same period in 2019.

Fiscal Accountability
Federal Fund Disclosure* 
If your organization is awarded this grant, you may be considered a subrecipient of federal funding. THEREFORE, if 
you are deemed a subrecipient and your organization reaches a threshold of having spent more than $750,000 in 
federal funding this fiscal year (this INCLUDES other federally funded programs), it will be subject to requirements 
of the Federal Single Audit Act. This will require your organization to comply with Federal Compliance 
Requirements and may necessitate additional expenses for your organization and you should prepare for this.

It is advisable that you contact a certified public accountant (CPA) or other professional for guidance.

Yes, my organization understands and assumes all liabilities/costs in regards to federal funding.

Audited Financial Statements* 
Does your organization routinely contract to have an audit conducted of its financial statements?

Yes

Most Recently Filed IRS Form 990* 
Please upload a copy of the organization's most recently filed IRS Form 990. This is absolutely required.

Comm Law 990 12.31.19.pdf
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Board-Approved Budget* 
Please upload your most recently board-approved budget for this fiscal year in PDF format.

2020 Budget as modified at July'20 mtg..pdf

Audited Financial Statements
Most Recent Audited Financial Statements* 
If your organization routinely contracts for an independent audit of its financial statements, including audits in 
accordance with Uniform Guidance and/or Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General, upload the most recent 
audit. The document should not be more than a year old.

Comm Law Final fs 12.31.19.pdf

Management Letter* 
Please provide a management letter indicating any findings from your organization's most recent independent 
audit.

If there is no management letter, please explain why.

SAS 114 12.31.19.pdf
The attached letter from our CPA indicates that no management letter was required to be issued.

Expansion or Sustaining of Exact Programming Funded by 
Another Source
Existing Contract 
If you are applying for funding to expand and/or sustain COVID-19 response programming that has already been 
funded by another source, please upload that contract here and provide a brief description of the funding source 
and relationship with the funder. Please note that any costs funded by another source are not allowed to be 
included in this application. Only the costs that are required to expand or sustain programs in excess of that 
funding will be considered for the purposes of this application.

FACE project MOU.pdf
We received a $15,000.00 grant from the Tampa Bay Resiliency Fund to overhaul our computer system 

and purchase new hardware for our organization's normal operations.  That funding does not relate costs 
associated with expanding our operations for this program.

In addition, we are partnering with Bay Area Legal Services (BALS) in a Tampa Bay regionwide pro bono 
project to recruit and involve more private attorneys in assisting tenants impacted by COVID-19 with 
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responding to eviction complaints.  BALS is the lead on this project and has received funding from the Tampa 
Bay Resiliency Fund for this project.  CLP will receive $6,000 over the course of the next twelve (12) months 
for helping to recruit and involve attorneys in southern Pinellas County.  A copy of the unsigned MOU is 
attached.

We do not have any other funding specifically designated to expand or sustain COVID-19 response.

Funding and Usage
Client Service Delivery* 
Briefly describe the services to be delivered under the programming for which you are requesting funding. Please 
include when and where the services will occur, how the target population will access the services, and the length 
of time the services will be provided. Please specify the zip codes of participants. If not available, specify the zip 
codes of service delivery points.

We plan to assist eligible tenants impacted by COVID-19 who are facing eviction by re-launching our 
eviction mediation program with a much broader focus than the halted court-provided process and with an 
aim to deliver services in a holistic setting.  We will provide the following services:

(1) Identification through robust outreach of potential clients at risk of eviction & getting to them and 
their landlords in time;

(2)   Providing regular and recurring opportunities to participate in mediation with a Florida Supreme 
Court certified mediator; 

(3) Helping with applying for & obtaining expedited approval for rental assistance through the Pinellas 
CARES Program or other related program;

(4) Representing tenants at mediation;
(5) Providing legal assistance to help tenants resolve eviction actions in situations where the landlord 

does not agree to participate in mediation, where time does not permit a mediation to occur and/or when the 
landlord cannot be reached; and

(5) Assisting with finding alternate housing  & financial assistance associated therewith from trained 
housing specialists.

The mediation services will be offered M-F between the hours of 9:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m.  Each mediation 
session will run for two hours.  The sessions will occur virtually using Zoom so that they can be accessed 
anywhere by anyone with a link and by anyone who has the technology to effectively participate.  For tenants 
who lack access to the technology, they can come to our office and use our computer with assistance from 
program staff to participate in the mediation.  

We intend to offer these services for as long as they are needed, because the eviction crisis caused by 
COVID-19 is not likely to end at the end of the year.  It is our hope to secure additional funding either through 
the extension of CARES dollars or from another source to maintain these expanded services through 2021.

Communication/Outreach and Community Engagement Efforts* 
In what ways is your organization marketing and communicating its available programming to the community it 
serves? How will you ensure that your target population is aware of your services and utilizes them?

We plan to engage in a robust street outreach effort enlisting Dab Community Services and CDAT as 
trusted members in the Black community to reach and engage tenants in the Black community.
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We also plan to monitor eviction court filings and to reach out to tenants & landlords once an eviction 
action is filed to notify them about the availability of our services.  We will also work with our local judiciary 
and/or Clerk of Court to get a flyer about our program included when the Clerk of Court issues a summons in 
a residential eviction case.

We will launch a new website dedicated to this program, which will have a 24/7 online registration 
portal.  We will also engage in a robust social media campaign throughout the duration of the program and 
will encourage our partners agencies to share our posts.   We will also prepare & distribute flyers about this 
project both electronically & in print to organizations that serve underserved populations &  at places 
throughout the county where food & other basic needs are being distributed and/or made available to the 
general public.  Our street outreach partners will use these flyers as they engage with members of the 
community to promote our program’s services.

We will prepare and circulate press releases & PSAs to the Weekly Challenger, the Power Broker, and 
popular radio programs within the Black community & others.

Hurricane Preparedness* 
If a hurricane-related emergency were to strike Pinellas County this year and cause an interruption in your 
organization's normal programming, how would you return to offering the programming, and continue to spend 
awarded funds from this grant?

There is an expectation that your programming will be able to continue in the event of a hurricane-related 
emergency. 

If your organization has a COOP (Continuity of Operations Plan), you may upload it here instead of providing a text 
answer. You may redact sensitive information from your organization's COOP.

2020 Disaster Preparedness Recovery and Business Continuity Plan.pdf

Evidence of Insurance Coverage* 
Grantees of the Pinellas CARES Nonprofit Partnership Fund will be required to maintain appropriate insurance to 
cover the services proposed in this application. PCF will determine whether this coverage is appropriate.

Please upload evidence of insurance policies that cover the programming for which your organization is requesting 
funds.

If there is no insurance coverage for this programming, please provide an explanation as to why.

Evidence of Insurance.pdf

Insurance Requirement* 
If you are awarded a contract for the Pinellas CARES Nonprofit Partnership Fund, you will be required to list 
Pinellas Community Foundation as an additional insured through your general liability insurance. If you would like 
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to begin this process now, please contact your general liability insurance carrier.

Here is the information for your carrier:
Pinellas Community Foundation
17755 US Highway 19 N
Suite 150
Clearwater, FL 33764
727-531-0058

Please check the box below to indicate that you understand and will be able to comply with this requirement.

The Budget Summary and Budget Narrative sections are 
absolutely critical to a successful application. Improperly 
completed forms will be returned to you to fix, and will delay a 
funding decision being made on your application. Please see 
the examples in each section. To avoid rejection of your 
organization's application, PCF HIGHLY recommends you watch 
this short, instructional video as well: Budget 
Narrative/Summary Instructions

Update as of 9/25/2020: Due to new U.S. Department of the Treasury guidance, the CARES Act does not cover 
any administrative or indirect costs. The Budget Narrative and Summary have been updated. CFO, CEO, and 
other types of "administrative" time must be documented as a direct cost on an hourly basis under Personnel 
or Contracted Services. The above webinar will be updated shortly.

If your organization is awarded a grant, it is likely to be issued on a cost-reimbursement basis. Please 
consider this when developing your budget narrative and summary.

Note about Hazard Pay: Hazard pay will not automatically be approved as a budget item. Hazard pay is only for 
hazardous duty or work involving physical hardship, in each case that is related to COVID-19. Much of the 
immediate hazards of COVID-19 can be mitigated by appropriate use of PPE and/or regular sanitizing of spaces. 
The threshold for approval of hazard pay is high. It is best that you inquire in advance of adding this to a budget in 
your grant application.

If you would like to use a unit of service cost as a basis for your budget, you MUST contact Pinellas 
Community Foundation program staff FIRST to discuss this possibility.
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Budget Summary* 

Please download the budget summary template HERE and complete it. If you have selected multiple Priority 
Fund Areas, you should include ALL costs in this summary.

Capital includes buildings, vehicles, equipment at $3,000 or more per item. The purchase of capital must represent 
the lower cost option for the period during which the purchased asset would be used for COVID-response 
activities. Outright purchase must be less than the cost of renting or leasing OR if renting or leasing is not available.

CLICK HERE TO SEE AN EXAMPLE OF A PROPERLY COMPLETED BUDGET SUMMARY.

Please export as a PDF and upload it.

CARES-Partnership-Fund-Budget-Summary-Grant#1 (JM Edit) (003).xlsx

Comment: Final Approved Budget Summary attached administratively to replace outdated first 
draft. Original submission can be viewed in Organizational Documents Tab.

Budget Narrative* 

Please download the budget narrative template HERE and complete it. 

The budget narrative needs to do more than define the expenses. It should clearly state what is going to be 
paid using CARES funds and then justify the expenses as a program expansion (or sustaining an already 
expanded program) as a result of COVID-19. Do not bold, underline, or italicize. Use dollar amounts that 
match your Budget Summary.

If you have selected multiple Priority Fund Areas, you should include ALL costs in this narrative.

CLICK HERE TO SEE AN EXAMPLE OF A PROPERLY COMPLETED BUDGET NARRATIVE.

Capital includes buildings, vehicles, equipment at $3,000 or more per item. The purchase of capital must represent 
the lower cost option for the period during which the purchased asset would be used for COVID-response 
activities. Outright purchase must be less than the cost of renting or leasing OR if renting or leasing is not available.

Please export as a PDF and upload it.

CARES-Partnership-Fund-Budget-Narrative-Grant[1].docx

Comment: Final Approved Budget Narrative attached administratively to replace outdated first 
draft. Original submission can be viewed in Organizational Documents Tab.

Capital Requests 
If you are requesting funding for capital expenses, please upload bids/estimates/rental agreements to match the 
expenses described in your budget summary and narrative.

Please upload in PDF format.

Logistical partner organizations (LPOs) are considered to be a critical part of service delivery strategy for this grant 
program, and using them is highly encouraged. Typical LPOs are:
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 Grassroots organizations with small annual operating budgets (under $50,000)

 Churches and other faith-based organizations

 Neighborhood associations

 Social organizations/collaboratives

 Resident councils in low-income house communities

 Neighborhood family centers

 Senior centers

Their essential role is to serve as outreach, information, referral and service delivery sites for food distribution, 
legal aid counseling to prevent evictions and behavioral health services, consistent with the three priority need 
areas in the grant specifications.

Are you going to use LPOs in this programming?* 
Yes

Logistical Partner Organizations (LPOs)
LPO List* 
Please upload a list with entity names and primary contact information for each LPO. If there is additional 
information to provide, do so in the text box below.

Pinellas CARES LPO list.pdf

Role in Programming* 
Please describe the role(s) of specified LPOs in the programming proposed in this application.

Bay Area Legal Services (BALS) and Gulfcoast Legal Services (GLS) will participate in weekly meetings 
during the planning & implementation of the program.  They will help spread awareness about the program 
through social media and through dissemination of flyers among their community constituents and clients.  
They will also refer potential clients to the program, and they will represent their clients who participate in 
mediation.

Stetson University College of Law will assist us by helping us find qualified graduates and/or law students 
to assist with outreach & intake efforts.

St. Petersburg  & Clearwater Bar Associations will help encourage local attorneys to enlist as mediators 
and contract attorneys to represent tenants.

211 Tampa Bay will employ 2 reviewers who will be dedicated to this project and will have authority at 
mediation to approve a renter to receive rental assistance through the Pinellas CARES Program.

Homeless Leadership Alliance, Inc. (HLA) will employ 2 housing specialists dedicated to this project who 
can assist tenants served through this project with finding alternate housing to avoid homelessness should 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CCB2CFC1-83F4-49B0-A01D-B6BBB9AF5329



Kimberly Rodgers Community Law Program

Printed On: 5 October 2020 Pinellas CARES Nonprofit Partnership Fund 12

their landlords move forward with evicting them.  HLA will also administer providing relocation financial 
assistance for this purpose. (See explanation in budget summary for why this additional assistance is 
necessary.)

Dab Community Services, Inc. (Dab) will use its Stop the Spread outreach strategies to connect with and 
engage beauty salons and barber shops and the customers who utilize these services within the Black 
community to help the project identify potential clients.  Dab will also help us identify and connect with 
potential multi-unit landlords to participate in this project.

Community Development and Training Center, Inc. (CDAT) will coordinate and employ a street outreach 
team that will make door-to-door, peer-to-peer contact with potential clients for our project.

Eviction Mitigation through Legal Aid
This grant will require weekly reporting on the following measures:

 Percentage of target met of the projected monthly number of households receiving eviction 
mitigation services from legal aid

 Number and percentage of eviction actions that were resolved to allow residents to remain in their 
homes 

Affirmation of Reporting* 
I affirm that my organization is capable of providing weekly reports on the above measures.

Yes

Number of Clients Served During Grant Period - Eviction Mitigation* 
This grant period ends on December 30, 2020. Please estimate the number of clients that will be served for 
eviction mitigation through legal aid by the end of the grant period.

275

September Projections - Eviction Mitigation* 
Please estimate the number of individuals to be served by this funding for eviction mitigation through legal 
aid in September 2020.

13
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September Projections - Percentage of Eviction Actions Resolved* 
Please estimate the percentage of evictions actions resolved by this funding in September 2020.

5

October Projections - Individuals Served - Eviction Mitigation* 
Please estimate the number of individuals to be served by this funding for eviction mitigation through legal 
aid in October 2020.

100

October Projections - Percentage of Eviction Actions Resolved 
Please estimate the percentage of evictions actions resolved by this funding in October 2020.

40

November Projections - Eviction Mitigation* 
Please estimate the number of individuals to be served by this funding for eviction mitigation through legal 
aid in November 2020.

81

November Projections - Percentage of Eviction Actions Resolved* 
Please estimate the percentage of evictions actions resolved by this funding in November 2020.

32

December Projections - Eviction Mitigation* 
Please estimate the number of individuals to be served by this funding for eviction mitigation through legal 
aid in December 2020.

81

December - Percentage of Eviction Actions Resolved* 
Please estimate the percentage of evictions actions resolved by this funding in December 2020.

33
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Funder Involvement
Which of the funders have provided a grant to your organization within the last 
three years?* 

Foundation for a Healthy St. Petersburg
Pinellas Community Foundation
Pinellas County Government
Regions Bank
Tampa Bay Resiliency Fund

Other Funding Sources 
If your organization has submitted applications to other funders or has received funding in response to 
coronavirus/COVID-19 from another funder, please briefly describe below:

We received funding of $15,000 from the Tampa Bay Resiliency Fund in order to update our computer 
system so that it is more compatible with working virtually.    We also received a PPP loan in the amount of 
$58,000.00 in May of 2020.  The PPP loan funds have been completely exhausted prior to submitting this 
grant proposal.

In addition, we will be receiving funding of $6,000 passed through Bay Area Legal Services, Inc., who 
received a grant from the Tampa Bay Resiliency Fund to help recruit and coordinate private attorneys to 
provide assistance to tenants facing eviction.  The term of this project is from Sept. 1, 2020 – Aug. 31, 2021.

Corrective Action* 
Is your organization currently under a corrective action agreement with any funder (including but not limited to 
those listed above)? If yes, please explain in detail, including the status of the corrective action. If no, state No.

No

Confirmation
Signature and Affirmation* 
By submitting this application, I hereby swear that executive leadership is aware of this request for funding, and if 
this funding is approved, my organization will be able to use these funds in the manner described in the 
application.

Please type your name as an electronic signature and the date on which you are submitting this application.

Kimberly Rodgers
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File Attachment Summary

Applicant File Uploads
•   Comm Law 990 12.31.19.pdf
•   2020 Budget as modified at July'20 mtg..pdf
•   Comm Law Final fs 12.31.19.pdf
•   SAS 114 12.31.19.pdf
•   FACE project MOU.pdf
•   2020 Disaster Preparedness Recovery and Business Continuity Plan.pdf
•   Evidence of Insurance.pdf
•   CARES-Partnership-Fund-Budget-Summary-Grant#1 (JM Edit) (003).xlsx
•   CARES-Partnership-Fund-Budget-Narrative-Grant[1].docx
•   Pinellas CARES LPO list.pdf
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�	M�	N�OP��Q*�RSTUVWXYRZ[YWV\]Ŷ_V̀UYaTbWYccdeYf̀b]YgeYhTUiYRj[YUkX̂Ylmi[YY;n��������� ��� !�" ��!#��Po��"�p Q�� q*��+�
,��-��./�-�������0.1�-.�0��023�����45�26��0�
��
����7����-�897��.0�����;�����
��
����7����-�<7��.0���r;=�>���2��.,-.�0��/�.0C�2-
�0- =@>�A��B�C���� ='>�D�-�����/�C����-.�0E��+�2-�����0�F�/F?����
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Total

Revenue

   401 Dues 3,000.00  

   402 In-Kind Legal Services 400,000.00  

   403 Donations 15,000.00  

   405 Fundraiser

      Basket Challenge 2,500.00  

   Total 405 Fundraiser $                                                                    2,500.00  

   407 County - SAF 21,000.00  

      407a DV Project 24,000.00  

   Total 407 County - SAF $                                                                  45,000.00  

   408 Filing Fees 47,428.80  

   409 Prior year surplus carryover 14,000.00  

   417 Self Help Center 37,750.00  

   418 PCF- Pinellas Community Fnd. 10,000.00  

      418a Patricia McGiverin Fund 6,770.96  

      418b TBRF 15,000.00  

   Total 418 PCF- Pinellas Community Fnd. $                                                                  31,770.96  

   420 FBF CED-Eviction 58,450.00  

   421 Other Grants 1,000.00  

      421f ACBF 10,000.00  

      421g FBF CED subgrant 15,000.00  

      421h FBF Engle Grant 54,450.00  

      421j ABE 33,500.00  

   Total 421 Other Grants $                                                                113,950.00  

   422 LSC Subgrant 42,845.00  

   426 FCADV subgrant#1 1,200.00  

   430 PPP Loan 58,000.00  

   433 Interest 1,200.00  

   435 Arthur Family Foundation 20,000.00  

   437 Misc. Income 161.87  

Total Revenue $                                                                892,256.63  

Gross Profit $                                                                892,256.63  

Expenditures

   501 Accounting 11,300.00  

   502 Professional Liability Insuranc 3,000.00  

   503 Insurance - Office 4,008.00  

   506 Rent 19,127.47  

   507 Postage 1,700.00  

   508 Telephone 5,400.00  

   509 Office Supplies 19,000.00  

   510 Equipment Rental 2,500.00  

Community Law Program Inc.

Budget Overview: 2020 Budget - FY20 P&L 
January - December 2020
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   511 Computer Services 13,700.00  

   512 Printing 800.00  

   513 Licenses 389.25  

   514 Dues/Subscriptions 1,540.00  

   517 Travel/Education 2,500.00  

   518 Bank Services 225.00  

   519 Client Litigation Costs 15,650.96  

   521 Meetings 420.00  

   523 Staff & Pro Bono Recognition 940.00  

   535 Community Outreach 840.00  

   540 Seminars 1,200.00  

   560 Independent Contractor 44,420.00  

   561 Subgrant to Stetson 27,000.00  

   570 Salaries 299,896.04  

   571 Payroll Taxes 22,942.74  

   572 Attorney Salaries-In Kind 400,000.00  

   587 Merchant Bank Service Fees 300.00  

   6560 Payroll Expenses 1,066.40  

Total Expenditures $                                                                899,865.86  

Net Operating Revenue -$                                                                   7,609.23  

Net Revenue -$                                                                   7,609.23  

Sunday, Aug 30, 2020 09:46:51 AM GMT-7 - Accrual Basis
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Community Law Program, Inc.: 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Community Law Program, Inc. (a nonprofit 
organization), which comprise the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2019, and the related 
statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the 
financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the organization’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the organization’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 

 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Community Law Program, Inc. as of December 31, 2019, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

 
We have previously audited Community Law Program, Inc.’s 2018 financial statements, and we expressed an 
unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated April 25, 2019. In our opinion, 
the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 is 
consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived. 
 
Other Matter 

 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The schedule 
of revenue and expenses on page 16 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the 
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 
the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 

 

 
Clearwater, Florida 
May 28, 2020 
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COMMUNITY LAW PROGRAM, INC. 

Statement of Financial Position 

December 31, 2019 
With Summarized Financial Information as of December 31, 2018 

 

3 

2019 2018

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 181,352  98,812  
Certificate of deposit 13,674  —    
Accounts receivable —    508  
Grants receivable 53,874  35,814  
Prepaid expenses 3,801  3,847  

Total current assets 252,701  138,981  

Furniture, fixtures and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 3,318  4,977  
Certificate of deposit —    13,538  

$ 256,019  157,496  

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 3,566  4,772  
Accrued payroll 20,723  11,724  
Accrued benefits 9,335  5,704  
Deferred revenue 86,736  28,133  

Total current liabilities 120,360  50,333  

Total liabilities 120,360  50,333  

Net assets:
Without donor restrictions 113,698  107,163  
With donor restrictions 21,961  —    

Total net assets 135,659  107,163  

$ 256,019  157,496  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Liabilities and Net Assets

Assets

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CCB2CFC1-83F4-49B0-A01D-B6BBB9AF5329



COMMUNITY LAW PROGRAM, INC. 

Statement of Activities 

Year ended December 31, 2019 
With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

 

4 

Without With
Donor  Donor  

Restrictions Restrictions 2019 2018

Revenue and other support:
Grant and contract revenue (Note 6) $ 357,374  21,961  379,335  313,511  
In-kind donations 543,877  —    543,877  423,234  
Donations 31,496  —    31,496  15,314  
Special events, net of direct expenses of $17,301 13,875  —    13,875  —    
Fundraisers 2,941  —    2,941  3,138  
Dues 100  —    100  1,400  
Trainings 688  —    688  395  
Interest 1,646  —    1,646  313  
Other 2,704  —    2,704  3,539  

Net assets released from restrictions:
Expiration of time/use restrictions —    —    —    —    

Total revenue and other support 954,701  21,961  976,662  760,844  

Expenses:
Program expenses 895,776  —    895,776  705,035  
Supporting services:

Management and general 39,345  —    39,345  39,090  
Fundraising 13,045  —    13,045  9,557  

Total supporting services 52,390  —    52,390  48,647  

Total expenses 948,166  —    948,166  753,682  

Change in net assets 6,535  21,961  28,496  7,162  

Net assets at beginning of year 107,163  —    107,163  100,001  

Net assets at end of year $ 113,698  21,961  135,659  107,163  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Total
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COMMUNITY LAW PROGRAM, INC. 

Statement of Functional Expenses 

Year ended December 31, 2019 
With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

5 

Management

Program and 

services  general Fundraising Total 2019 2018

Salaries $ 235,955  19,701  10,270  29,971  265,926  184,759  
Payroll taxes 17,912  1,496  779  2,275  20,187  14,955  
Retirement 4,436  370  194  564  5,000  1,095  
Payroll processing fees —    860  —    860  860  872  

Total salaries and related expenses 258,303  22,427  11,243  33,670  291,973  201,681  

Pro bono attorney services 526,925  —    —    —    526,925  405,420  
Rent 17,598  926  —    926  18,524  17,662  
In-kind rent 16,104  848  —    848  16,952  17,814  
Contract services 33,176  1,349  —    1,349  34,525  58,970  
Accounting and auditing —    10,068  —    10,068  10,068  9,175  
Computer services and internet 8,345  649  278  927  9,272  9,009  
Special event expenses —    —    17,301  17,301  17,301  —    
Travel 5,007  263  —    263  5,270  6,386  
Insurance 5,411  285  —    285  5,696  5,906  
Supplies 3,170  67  100  167  3,337  5,064  
Telephone 4,685  364  156  520  5,205  4,653  
Printing and photocopying 4,491  264  529  793  5,284  3,566  
Meetings and seminars 2,328  477  —    477  2,805  3,116  
Postage 1,080  64  126  190  1,270  1,059  
Litigation services 6,038  —    —    —    6,038  863  
Licenses, dues & subscriptions 1,510  200  70  270  1,780  740  
Bank and credit card fees —    473  493  966  966  699  
Other 112  505  —    505  617  1,509  

Total expenses before depreciation 894,283  39,229  30,296  69,525  963,808  753,292  

Depreciation and amortization 1,493  116  50  166  1,659  390  

Total expenses by function 895,776  39,345  30,346  69,691  965,467  753,682  

Less expenses included with revenue
on the statement of activities

Special event expenses —    —    (17,301) (17,301) (17,301) —    

Total expenses by function $ 895,776  39,345  13,045  52,390  948,166  753,682  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Total Expenses

Supporting Services
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COMMUNITY LAW PROGRAM, INC. 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended December 31, 2019 
With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

6 

2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets $ 28,496  7,162  
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to 

net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: 
Depreciation 1,659  390  
Decrease in accounts receivable 508  1,537  
Increase in grants receivable (18,060) (2,806) 
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 46  (2,246) 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and

accrued expenses (1,206) 2,544  
Increase in accrued payroll 8,999  4,480  
Increase in accrued benefits 3,631  —    
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue 58,603  (39,347) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 82,676  (28,286) 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Increase in certificate of deposit (136) (95) 
Purchase of equipment —    (4,977) 

Net cash used in investing activities (136) (5,072) 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 82,540  (33,358) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 98,812  132,170  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 181,352  98,812  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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COMMUNITY LAW PROGRAM, INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 

7 (Continued) 

(1) Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
(a) Organization 

 
Community Law Program, Inc. (the Organization) was formed by the St. Petersburg Bar 
Association in 1989 as a 501(c)(3) corporation to expand access to the legal system for those 
financially unable to afford legal representation. The Organization’s mission is to empower the 
most vulnerable in our community through pro bono legal representation and legal assistance, 
education, and outreach. 
 
Funding is provided partially through direct contract and grant agreements and sub-grant 
agreements and is contracted on a year-to-year basis (see Note 6). There are no assurances of 
continued funding. 
 

(b) Basis of Accounting 

 
These financial statements, which are presented on the accrual basis of accounting, have been 
prepared to focus on the Organization as a whole and to present net assets and revenue, 
expenses, gains and losses based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 
Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified as follows: 

 
Net assets without donor restrictions – Net assets not subject to donor-imposed restrictions. 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions – Net assets, which are subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions. Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that 
will be met by the passage of time or events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed 
restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulated the resources be maintain in 
perpetuity. Donor-imposed restrictions are released when a restriction expires, that is, when 
the stipulation time has elapsed, when the stipulation purpose for which the resource was 
restricted has been fulfilled, or both. As of December 31, 2019, the Organization did not 
have any net assets with donor restrictions. 
 

Revenue is reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions unless use of the related 
assets is limited by donor-imposed restrictions. Expenses are reported as decreases in net assets 
without donor restrictions. Gains and losses and other assets or liabilities are reported as 
increases or decreases in net assets without donor restrictions unless their use is restricted by 
explicit donor stipulation or by law. 
 
Contributions received with donor-imposed restrictions that are met in the same year as 
received are reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions. 
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COMMUNITY LAW PROGRAM, INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 

8 (Continued) 

As required by the accounting guide for Legal Service Corporation (LSC) recipients, LSC grant 
and contract support is recognized and reported as a contribution with donor-imposed 
restrictions. LSC grant and contract funds are classified and reported in the Organization’s 
financial statements as donor restricted revenue and increases in donor restricted net assets. 
Donor restricted LSC net assets are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions only 
when eligible expenses are incurred. LSC grant and contract revenue expended in the same 
year as received is reported as revenue and expense of net assets without donor restrictions. 
 

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents  

 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash held in checking and money market funds with 
maturities of less than 90 days. 
 

(d) Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 

 
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment is stated at cost, if purchased, or at estimated fair value at 
the date of receipt if acquired by gift. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method 
over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Major renewals and betterments are 
capitalized. Maintenance, repairs, and minor renewals are expensed as incurred. It is the policy 
of the Organization to maintain all furniture, fixtures, and equipment in good condition. 
 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment acquired with governmental and LSC funds is considered to 
be owned by the Organization while used in the program for which it was purchased or in future 
authorized programs; however, its disposition as well as the ownership of any proceeds 
therefrom is subject to applicable regulations. 
 

(e) Deferred Revenue  

 
Conditional promises to give, that is, those with a measurable performance or other barrier and 
a right of return, that are paid in advance, are deferred until the condition on which they depend 
has been met.  
 

(f) Accrued Benefits 

 
Accrued benefits represent vested vacation leave and accrued retirement. Vacation leave is 
charged as an expense in the period in which it is earned by the employee. 
 

(g) Donated Services and Materials 

 
Donated materials are reflected in the accompanying financial statements at their estimated fair 
market value at date of receipt. Donated services are recorded at their estimated fair value if 
the services received create or enhance non-financial assets or the services require specialized 
skills, are provided by individuals possessing those skills, and would typically need to be 
purchased if not provided by donation. 
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(h) Functional Allocation of Expenses 

 
The costs of providing the various program and other activities have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the statement of functional expenses. Certain categories of expenses are 
attributed to more than one program or supporting function. Therefore, expenses require 
allocation on a reasonable basis that is consistently applied. The expenses that are allocated 
include rent, computer services and internet, telephone, and depreciation, which are allocated 
on a square footage basis, as well as salaries, payroll taxes, and retirement, which are allocated 
on the basis of estimates of time and effort. 
 

(i) Income Taxes 

 
The Organization is exempt from Federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code and from state income taxes under similar provisions of the Florida Income Tax 
Code. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been included in the accompanying 
financial statements. The Organization is subject to the accounting standards on accounting for 
uncertainty in income taxes. Management does not believe it has taken any tax positions that 
are subject to a significant degree of uncertainty. The Organization’s federal returns are 
generally open for examination for three years following the date filed. 
 

(j) Use of Estimates 

 
Management of the Organization has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to 
the reporting of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, as 
well as pro rata allocations in the recording of expenditures, to prepare these financial 
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

(k) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

 
The fair value of the Organization’s financial instruments which include cash, a certificate of 
deposit, accounts and grants receivable, and accounts payable are equal to their carrying 
amounts as presented in the accompanying statement of financial position. 
 

(l) Summarized Financial Information for 2018 

 
The financial information for the year ended December 31, 2018, presented for comparative 
purposes, is not intended to be a complete presentation. Certain 2018 amounts have been 
reclassified to conform with the 2019 presentation. 
 

(2) Certificate of Deposit  

 
The certificate of deposit matures June 27, 2020 and bears interest at 1.10%. 
 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: CCB2CFC1-83F4-49B0-A01D-B6BBB9AF5329



COMMUNITY LAW PROGRAM, INC. 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 

10 (Continued) 

(3) Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 

 
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment consists of the following at December 31, 2019: 
 

Estimated

useful lives

Furniture, fixtures and equipment $ 8,327  3 to 7 years
Less accumulated depreciation (5,009) 

$ 3,318  

 
(4) Net Assets With Donor Restrictions 

 
Net assets with donor restrictions as of December 31, 2019 relate to donations and grants received 
restricted for the following: 
 

Lawyers for Young Adults Project $ 20,515  

Equipment purchases 1,446  

$ 21,961  

 
(5) Operating Leases 

 
The Organization leases its office space under an operating lease that expires in 2020. The 
Organization also rents a copier under an operating lease that expires in 2023. Total rent expense 
related to these leases was $20,792 for the year ended December 31, 2019. The following is a 
schedule of future lease payments: 
 

Year ending December 31,

2020 $ 11,669  
2021 2,268  
2022 2,268  
2023 756  

2024 —    
Thereafter —    

$ 16,961  
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(6) Grant and Contract Revenue 

 
The Organization receives support from several grantors under various contracts. During the year 
ended December 31, grant and contract revenue consisted of the following: 
 

2019 2018

Legal Services Corporation – 

Passed through Bay Area Legal Services, Inc. $ 42,845  42,201  

Pinellas County – 

Clerk of Circuit Court – Self Help Center 37,141  38,625  

Domestic Violence 26,000  26,600  

Social Action 18,600  14,900  

Passed through Gulf Coast Legal Services, Inc.

Legal Aid Services Agreement (Filing Fees) 47,272  46,034  

The Florida Bar Foundation – 

Community Economic Development Initiative 74,646  —    
Children Legal Services 16,817  8,183  

Engle 5,362  —    

Pro Bono Award 2,000  —    

Summer Fellow —    9,075  

Passed through Bay Area Legal Services, Inc.

Expanding Senior Foreclosure Advocacy 10,000  10,000  

Arthur Family Foundation 48,500  20,000  

Foundation for a Healthy St. Petersburg 15,302  66,693  

Chapman Foundation 14,000  —    

Pinellas County Community Foundation 10,000  10,000  

Gulfcoast Legal Services, Inc. 6,100  5,700  

Area Agency on Aging 2,500  —    

St. Petersburg Bar Foundation 1,250  5,000  

Kiwanis 1,000  —    

American College of Bankruptcy Foundation —    8,000  

Other —    2,500  

$ 379,335  313,511  

Grantor/Program Name
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(7) Liquidity and Availability  

 
Financial assets available for general expenditures, that is, without donor imposed or other 
restrictions limiting their use, within one year of the balance sheet date, comprise the following: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 181,352  
Certificate of deposit 13,674  
Grants receivable 53,874  

Cash with donor restrictions (21,961) 

$ 226,939  

 
The Organization structures its financial assets to be available as its general expenditures, liabilities, 
and other obligations come due. 
 

(8) In-Kind Revenue and Expense 

 
Certain services are provided to the Organization gratis or at a cost substantially less than fair market 
value. The difference between that actual charge and the estimated fair market value is reflected as 
in-kind revenue and expense in the accompanying financial statements. In-kind revenue and expense 
consist of the following for the year ended December 31, 2019: 
 

Pro bono attorney fees $ 526,925  
Rent 16,952  

Total in-kind revenue and expense $ 543,877  

 
Additionally, volunteers have donated substantial time to the Organization in various capacities. 
However, these services are not reflected in the financial statements since the services do not require 
specialized skills. 
 
The value of other contributed services meeting the requirements for recognition in the financial 
statements was not material and has not been reflected in the financial statements. 
 

(9) Retirement Plan 

 
The Organization adopted a Simplified Employee Pension Plan during the year ended December 31, 
2008. The Organization Board makes discretionary contributions up to 3% of eligible employee’s 
salaries to the Plan. During 2019, a 3% contribution of eligible employee’s salaries, totaling $5,000, 
was made to the Plan. 
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(10) Concentrations 

 
The following contributors each provide in excess of 10% of the Organization’s revenue (excluding 
in-kind): 
 
 Pinellas County 
 The Florida Bar Foundation 
 Arthur Family Foundation 
 

(11) New Accounting Policies 

 
In June 2018, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2018-08, Not-for-Profit Entities 
(Topic 958) – Clarifying the Scope and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and 

Contributions Made. The update clarifies and improves the scope and accounting guidance for 
contributions received and contributions made, assisting organizations in evaluating whether 
transactions should be accounted for as contributions or as exchange (reciprocal) transactions subject 
to other guidance, and determining whether a contribution is conditional. The Organization 
implemented ASU 2018-08 and has adjusted the presentation in these financial statements 
accordingly. 
 
The Organization has also adopted ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
(Topic 606), as amended.  Topic 606 requires the recognition of revenue when promised goods or 
services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Organization’s financial statements 
reflect the application of Topic 606 beginning in 2019. No cumulative-effect adjustment in net assets 
was recorded, as the adoption of ASU 2014-09 did not significantly impact the Organization’s 
reported historical revenue. The Organization does not believe the application of the provisions has 
a material effect on the amounts presented or disclosed. 
 

(12) Commitments and Contingencies 

 
The Organization is subject to audit examination by funding sources to determine compliance with 
grant conditions. In the event that expenditures would be disallowed, repayment could be required. 
Management believes the Organization is in compliance with the terms of its grant agreements. 
 

(13) Subsequent Events 

 
Management has evaluated subsequent events through May 28, 2020, the date which the financial 
statements were available for issue. 
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In December 2019, an outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) originated in Wuhan, 
China and has since spread to other countries, including the U.S. On March 11, 2020, the World 
Health Organization characterized COVID-19 as a pandemic. The Organization had to close their 
physical location and all employees must work remotely as they can. Future potential impacts may 
include continued disruptions or restrictions on employees’ ability to work and impairment of the 
Organization’s ability to obtain contributions and volunteers. The future effects of these issues are 
unknown. 
 
The full impact of the COVID-19 outbreak continues to evolve as of the date of this report. As such, 
it is uncertain as to the full magnitude that the pandemic will have on the Organization’s financial 
condition, liquidity, and future results of operations. Management is actively monitoring the situation 
on its financial condition, liquidity, operations, suppliers, industry, and workforce. Given the daily 
evolution of the COVID-19 outbreak and the global responses to curb its spread, the Organization is 
not able to estimate the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on its results of operations, financial 
condition, or liquidity for year ended 2020. 
 
Subsequent to year end, the Organization applied for and was approved a $58,000 loan under the 
Paycheck Protection Program created as part of the relief efforts related to COVID-19 and 
administered by the Small Business Administration. The loan accrues interest at 1%, but payments 
are not required to begin for six months after the funding of the loan. The Organization is eligible for 
loan forgiveness of up to 100% of the loan, upon meeting certain requirements.  
 

****** 
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Legal

Services

Corporation

Revenue:
Grant and contract revenue $ 42,845  

Total revenue 42,845  

Expenses:
Salaries 38,763  
Payroll taxes 2,955  
Payroll processing fees —    

Total salaries and related expenses 41,718  

Accounting and auditing 840  
Travel and education 287  
Other —    

Total expenses 42,845  

—    

Capital purchases —    

Revenue over expenses $ —    

See accompanying note to schedule.
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(1) General 

 
The accompanying Schedule of Revenue and Expenses includes the activity of the Legal Services 
Corporation, Legal Assistance for the Poor (IOTA), Children’s Legal Services, and Staff Attorney 
grants and contracts and is presented on the accrual basis of accounting. The information in this 
schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of grant and contract agreements and the 
Legal Service Corporation (LSC), Accounting Guide for LSC Recipients. Therefore, some amounts 
presented in this schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of the 
basic financial statements. 
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Board of Directors 
Community Law Program, Inc. 
St. Petersburg, Florida 

May 28, 2020 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have audited the financial statements of Community Law Program, Inc. for the year ended 
December 31, 2019, and have issued our report thereon dated May 28, 2020 .  Professional standards 
require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing 
standards, as well as certain information related to our audit. 

Our Responsibility under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards 

As stated in our engagement letter dated March 1, 2017, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared by management with 
your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.  Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your 
responsibilities. 

Our responsibility for the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, as described 
by professional standards, is to evaluate the presentation of the supplementary information in relation to 
the financial statements as a whole and to report on whether the supplementary information is fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit   

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to 
management. 

Significant Audit Findings  

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices  

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the Organization are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.  

In June 2018, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2018-08, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 
958) – Clarifying the Scope and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions 

Made. The update clarifies and improves the scope and accounting guidance for contributions received 
and contributions made, assisting organizations in evaluating whether transactions should be accounted 
for as contributions or as exchange (reciprocal) transactions subject to other guidance, and determining 
whether a contribution is conditional. . The Organization implemented ASU 2018-08 and has adjusted the 
presentation in these financial statements accordingly. 
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The Organization has also adopted ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 
606), as amended.  Topic 606 requires the recognition of revenue when promised goods or services are 
transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Organization’s financial statements reflect the 

application of Topic 606 beginning in 2019. No cumulative-effect adjustment in net assets was recorded, 
as the adoption of ASU 2014-09 did not significantly impact the Organization’s reported historical 
revenue. The Organization does not believe the application of the provisions has a material effect on the 
amounts presented or disclosed. 
 
We noted no transactions entered into by the Organization during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected.  

The Organization’s significant estimates are the estimate of depreciable lives, value of the pro-bono legal 
services and donated rent, and the functional allocation of expenses.   We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions used to develop these estimates in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all misstatements identified during the audit, other than 
those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.   

None of the misstatements identified were material to the financial statements taken as a whole.  

Disagreements with Management  

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations  

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated May 28, 2020. 
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Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants  

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to the Organization’s financial statements or a determination of the 
type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require 
the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To 
our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues  

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Organization’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 

We have not issued a “Management Letter” for the year ending December 31, 2019 as no significant 
items came to our attention related to internal controls or other operational matters that are normally 
communicated in this letter. 

Other Matters 

With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made certain 
inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to 
determine that the information complies with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, the method 
of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in 
relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary 
information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves. 

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors and management of the 
Organization and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

Very truly yours, 
 

 
 
 
ELLEN FONTANA CPA, LLC 
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DISASTER 
PREPAREDNESS, 

RECOVERY & 
 BUSINESS CONTINUITY 

PLAN 
(Revised June 2020) 

 
 

Community Law Program, Inc. 
501 First Avenue North, Suite 519 

St. Petersburg, FL 33701 
Telephone: 727-582-7480 
Facsimile: 727-582-7267 

Kimberly Rodgers, Executive Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Assistance with form and content of the following plan was taken from Legal Aid Society Disaster Plan 
Template and THE SCOOP ON COOP: A Workbook for Human Services Continuity of Operations 
Planning & Disaster by Health & Human Services Disaster Recovery Leadership Network, Pinellas 
County, Florida. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CCB2CFC1-83F4-49B0-A01D-B6BBB9AF5329



2 

 

CONTENTS 
 

I. MISSION STATEMENT 
 

A management supported, cost-effective and documented plan that provides agency-
wide capability for organized preparation and timely recovery from a major unforeseen 
disruption. 
 

II. INTRODUCTION 

 
This document contains the process and activities to be performed in the event a 
disaster should take place affecting the Community Law Program, Inc (CLP). This 
information is intended to create awareness of the major subjects and items requiring 
attention in case of a disaster, and to prevent an operational outage of CLP and/or a 
significant impact on the critical operations of CLP as a whole. 
 
The Designated Emergency Disaster Coordinator or her designee will provide all 
instructions in order to insure maximum coordination. Depending on the severity of the 
event and the services available, directives (including declaration of the disaster, 
policies for preparing and recovering from the disaster issued before and after the 
disaster) will be communicated to the staff via telephone, fax, email and/or staff 
meeting. In turn, each staff member will perform responsibilities described in Staff 
Responsibilities Section of this plan or as directed by the Designated Emergency 
Disaster Coordinator.   
 

III. POLICY STATEMENT 
 
It shall be the policy of the Community Law Program to provide a Disaster 
Preparedness, Recovery and Business Continuity Plan to protect the assets, records, 
information, well being and safety of employees and to provide for the continuation of 
essential services to the organization and its clients. The Plan’s major objectives are to 
provide a program to achieve the following ends in the event of a disaster in our 
facilities: 

 

 To protect the staff of the Community Law Program from any further 
damage to their health and safety. 

 To continue operations in order to maintain essential client services, to 
continue support services and to maintain the confidence of clients, staff, 
funding providers and vendors. 

 To provide for the re-establishment of critical operations of the Community 
Law Program as soon as practicable. 
 

 
Approved by: _________________________________  _______________ 
     Kimberly Rodgers, Executive Director  Date 
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IV. AGENCY DISASTER INFORMATION AND EMERGENCY PHONE 
NUMBERS 

 
A.  Our Organization/Agency: 
 
Community Law Program, Inc. 
501 First Avenue North, Suite 519 
Telephone 727-582-7480 
Fax 727-582-7267 
clp@lawprogram.org 
Evacuation Zone:  None  
 

B.  Designated Emergency Disaster 
Coordinator: 
 
Kimberly Rodgers, Esq. 
Executive Director 
501 First Avenue North, Suite 512 
Telephone:  727-582-7480 
Fax:  727-582-7267 
Mobile: 727-492-1004 
Email: krodgers@lawprogram.org 
 

C.  Alternate Emergency Disaster 
Coordinator: 
 
Mary-Lou Dickson, FRP, ACP, FCP 
Paralegal and Pro Bono Case Manager 
Home Address: 8050 Cottonwood 
Court, Seminole, FL 33776 
Home Phone:  727-289-8616 
Cell Phone:  727-560-2434 
mdickson@lawprogram.org 
 
 

D.  Pinellas County Building Manager: 
 
Thomas White 
Pinellas County Real Estate Management 
509 East Avenue South 
Clearwater, FL 33756 
Telephone:  727-582-7745 
Fax:  727-464-3374 
twhite@pinellascounty.org 
 
Mitchell Gryboski 
Facility Manager 2, South County 
Facilities and Real Property Division 
Department of Administrative Services 
501 1st Ave. North, Suite A117 
St. Petersburg, FL 33701 
Main (727) 582-7745 
mgryboski@pinellascounty.org 
 

E.  Pinellas County Building 
Security: 
 
727-582-7739 
 

F.  Pinellas County Building Facilities: 
 
727-582-7738 
 

G.  First Responders: 
 
Ambulance: 911 
 
Police:  911 
             St. Petersburg Police Dept 
             1300 1st Avenue North 
              St. Petersburg, FL 33705 

H.  Information Technology Contractors: 
 
Email, Website, Computer Repair and Data 
Restoration: 
Jody Mackercher  
Positron Computers 
727-527-1374 
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Fire Station: 911 
                     St. Petersburg Fire &   
                     Rescue 
                     400 9th Street South 
                     St. Petersburg, FL 33701 
 
Hospital:       727-823-1234 
                     Bayfront Medical Center 
                     701 6th Street South 
                     St. Petersburg, FL 33701 
 

Internet Provider: 
Spectrum - 1-844-202-5141 

 

I.  Other Agency Support:  
 
Accounting:  Fontana CPAs, 231 
Wright Circle, Celebration, FL 34747 
321-939-4115 
 
Payroll:  QuickBooks/Intuit 
 

J. Utilities: 
 
Electric:  
 
Duke Energy 
Power Outage - 1-800-228-8485 
 

 
 

K. Local State And 
National Organization 
Contact List: 
 

  

DCF Emergency 
Contact, Jim Rood 
9393 N. Florida, #900 
Tampa, FL 33612 

813-558-5528 
Suncom 514-5528 
Cell 813-267-2197 
Fax 813-558-5538 

Jim_rood@dcf.state.fl.us 

211/Tampa Bay  
Cares 

211 www.211tampabay.org 

American Red Cross – 
Tampa Bay 

813-348-4820 www.redcrosstbc.org 

Salvation Army 727-550-8080 www.salvationarmystpetersburg.org 

United Way 813-274-0900 unitedwaysuncoast.org 

Pinellas County 
Emergency Management 

727-464-3800 
727-464-4333 

www.pinellascounty.org/emergency 

National Disaster 
Medical Assistance 
Team 

 http://fl3dmat.org 
 
Note: This is an active site but does not appear 
to have been updated since 2010. 

Florida Division of 
Emergency Management 

State Assistance 
Information Line 
(SAIL): 
1-800-342-3557 

floridadisaster.org 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CCB2CFC1-83F4-49B0-A01D-B6BBB9AF5329

http://fl3dmat.org/


5 

 

Pinellas County Public 
Works and 
Transportation  

727-464-8900  

Pinellas County 
Homeless Leadership 
Board 

727-528-7916 pinellashomeless.org 
 
 

FEMA Regional Office 
(Atlanta, Region 4) 
 
FEMA: Disaster 
Survivors 
 
 

770-220-5200 
 
 
 
1-800-621-3362 
Main No.: 202-
646-2500 

www.fema.gov 
 
 
 
www/fema.gov/contact-us 

Attorney General Price 
Gouging Hotline 
 

1-866-966-7226  

Florida Department of 
Transportation Traffic & 
Travel Information 

511  

U.S. Department of 
Homeland Security 

202-282-8000 www.dhs.gov 

 
 

L. Tampa Bay Media 
Contacts 

  

Tampa Bay Times 727-893-8111 www.tampabay.com 

TV Stations:   

Bay News 9 727-329-2400 
888-437-1239 

www.baynews9.com 

WFTS-ABC 1-800-920-2828 
813-354-2828 

www.abcactionnews.com 

WTSP-CBS 727-577-1010 10news@tampabays10.com 

WFLA-NBC 813-221-5788 www.wfla.com 

WTVT-FOX 813-870-9630 www.myfoxtampabay.com 
WEDU—PBS    813-254-9338 www.wedu.org 

WUSF-PBS 813-974-8700 www.wusf.org 

WVEA-Univision 
(Spanish) 

813-238-8001  

Community Radio WMNF 
88.5 

813-238-8001 www.wmnf.org 

 

V. STAFF CONTACT LIST 
 
Kimberly Rodgers, Esquire 
Executive Director 

Juanita Carroll, Esquire 
Interim Director and Staff Attorney 
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Home Address:  2275 68th Ave. South, 
St. Petersburg, FL 33712 
Home Phone:  727-865-1084 
Mobile Phone:  727-492-1004 
Emergency Contact Name:  
Ralph Spaights, Husband 
Emergency Phone Number:  
727-608-6284 
I will evacuate to: Non-Evacuation Zone 

 

Home Address:  3111 Park Street No., St. 
Petersburg, FL 33710 
Home Phone: None 
Mobile Phone:  727-656-8545 
Emergency Contact Name:  Paul Carroll,  
727-504-0653 
Emergency Phone Number: 727-656-8545 
I will evacuate to: Non-Evacuation Zone 

Jennie White 
Legal Assistant/Office Manager 
Home Address:  2001 56th Street So., 
Gulf Port, FL 33707 
Mobile Phone:  207-332-0787 
Emergency Contact Name:  Steve 
White, Husband 
Emergency Phone Number: 207-315-
1652 
I will evacuate to: Non-Evacuation Zone 
 

Mary-Lou Dickson, FRP, ACP, FCP 
Paralegal and Pro Bono Case Manager 
Home Address: 8050 Cottonwood Court, 
Seminole, FL 33776 
Home Phone:  727-289-8616 
Cell Phone:  727-560-2434 
Emergency Contact Name:  V. James 
Dickson, Husband  
Emergency Phone Number: 727-580-8676 
I will evacuate to: Non-Evacuation Zone 

Thomas H. McGowan, Esquire 

1560 Central Avenue, Apt. 360 
Saint Petersburg, FL 33705 
Cell:  727-742-0848 

Landline: 727-821-8900 
Emergency Contact: Brendan 
McGowan, 727-735-4868 
I will evacuate to:  Non-evacuation 
zone. 
 
 

Sheryl Shadburn  
Development Officer and Pro Bono 

Coordinator 
Home Address:  2001 83rd Avenue No.,  
Lot 5069, St. Petersburg, FL  33702 
Home phone:  727-623-0940 
Cell (text only please):  813-351-0475 
Emergency Phone Numbers: 
Peyton Pruitt , Daughter, 321-331-8822 
Morgan Greif, Daughter, 813-230-7695 
I will evacuate to: Morgan Greif, Daughter, 
St. Petersburg, Florida 
 

Nancy E. Roden, Esquire 
2411 Landings Circle 
Bradenton, FL  34209 
Cell:  727-262-6612 
Alternate Cell:  313-743-7915 
Emergency Contact: Michael Norris,  
917-589-5560 
I will evacuate to:  Non-Evacuation Zone 
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VI. DESIGNATED EMERGENCY DISASTER COORDINATOR  
(OR DESIGNEE) RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
A.   General Tasks: 

 
1.   Pre-Disaster: 

 

 Prepare or update Disaster Preparedness, Recovery and Continuity Plan. 

 Schedule full staff meeting for presentation of Disaster Preparedness, 
Recovery and Continuity Plan, prior to June 1st of each year. 

 Participate in disaster preparedness training. 

 Obtain copy of Affordable Housing Survey compiled by Bay Area Legal 
Services. 

 Review and/or enter into Mutual Aid Agreement with Gulfcoast Legal 
Services and/or Bay Area Legal services. 

 Compile list of pro bono attorneys who will assist post-disaster with 
providing legal services to area clients. 

 
2.    Immediately Before Disaster Strikes: 

 

 Monitor the development of the disaster. 

 Immediately notify Staff of impending disaster by meeting, e-mail, fax 
and/or voice mail. 

 Obtain a copy of the Presidential Declaration of Disaster and the names 
and contact information of federal and state disaster officials. 

 Update and distribute Staff Contact List. 

 Determine if and when CLP should close and advise Staff of decision to 
close the CLP office and implement the disaster payroll policy, if 
appropriate. 

 Update CLP’s outgoing voice mail message, if appropriate. 

 Ensure Staff Responsibilities have been accomplished. 

 Call 2-1-1 and report CLP’s closure/relocation or change in service. 

 Ensure that the CLP is safely secured.  
 

3.   Post-Disaster: 
 

 Provide necessary support to Staff whose personal lives have been 
impacted. 

 Contact building management to obtain a status regarding damage to the 
building, restoration of power to lights, air conditioning, telephone system, 
etc. 

 If able to return to office, conduct preliminary damage assessment. 

 Take steps to salvage office files and equipment if necessary. 

 Determine whether the courts are in operation and obtain copies of any 
post disaster proceedings adopted by the courts. 
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 Determine whether any court administrative orders were issued which 
address emergency procedures. 

 Determine the level of operations for CLP and advise the Staff.  

 Call 2-1-1 and report any CLP re-opening/relocation, change in hours of 
operation, status of building, status of services, etc. 

 Update CLP’s outgoing voice mail message as appropriate. 

 Check for incoming message on 2-1-1 Community Voice Mail box. 

 Attempt to secure any emergency grant funding as needed. 
 

B.   Computer Equipment and Data: 
 

1.  Pre-Disaster: 
 

 Update inventory of computer related equipment. 

 Confirm with technology support that all critical data is being backed up 
daily. 

 Ensure that the insurance coverage is adequate in the event of damage or 
destruction of the building and/or equipment. 

 Maintain a current inventory list of CLP’s office equipment, personal 
property, and computer equipment, including the date of purchase, 
maintenance contracts, serial numbers, model, brand, assignment and 
physical location of all property should be included with the inventory.   
 

 
2.   Immediately Before Disaster Strikes: 

 

 Ensure that data is backed up and that current backup tape will be stored 
in a safe place until threat has passed. 

 Ensure that the network and back-up system will be shut down 
completely. 

 Ensure that all computer equipment is moved to an interior office free of 
windows.   

 

C.   Financial and Other Vital Records: 
 

1.   Pre-Disaster: 
 

 Maintain an updated list of vendors and suppliers essential for 
continuation of CLP’s activities. 

 Gather all of the CLP’s insurance policies and agents’ contact information 
including claims procedures. 

 Review and update as necessary the current inventory list of CLP’s office 
equipment, personal property, and computer equipment, including the 
date of purchase, maintenance contracts, serial numbers, model, brand, 
assignment and physical location of all property.   
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 Obtain current photographs and/or a videotape of all of CLP’s equipment, 
furniture and other property, if then existing insurance approved by the 
CLP Board of Trustees includes property replacement and loss. 

 Purchase plastic sheets/covering for each computer work station and 
distribute to staff. 

 
2.   Immediately Before Disaster Strikes: 

 

 Ensure that the “Go Box” includes pertinent CLP documents, lists, 
policies, accounting statements, intake forms, retainer agreements and 
other documents needed by the agency to continue to provide essential 
services to the community.  (See “Go Box” checklist). 

 Ensure that the “Go Box” is safely secured and accessible to Designated 
Emergency Disaster Coordinator and/or Alternate Designated Emergency 
Disaster Coordinator. 

 
3.   Post-Disaster: 

 

 Maintain complete documentation of all expenses incurred by CLP as a 
result of its displacement. 

 Promptly submit the necessary claims to CLP’s insurance providers. 
 

 

VII. STAFF RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

A.   Pre-Disaster: 
 

 Log off and shut down computers and move to interior office with no 
windows. 

 Unplug and cover with plastic all electronic equipment including printers, 
fax machines, copiers, etc., and the move to interior office with no 
windows. 

 Remove all loose objects from desks and counters. 

 Remove all hanging pictures/plaques from walls. 

 Transport all non-fixed floor objects to interior office with no windows. 

 Do not unplug phones. 

 Cover desks, bookcases, file cabinets and equipment with plastic. 

 Ensure that Designated Emergency Disaster Coordinator has your current 
contact number and location and phone number of where you will 
evacuate to if necessary. 

 Ensure that you have contact information for Designated Emergency 
Disaster Coordinator and Alternate Designated Emergency Disaster 
Coordinator and other staff members. 

 Inform Designated Emergency Disaster Coordinator if you require 
additional time to prepare your home and family. 
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 Attorneys should ensure that list of active cases and calendar with all 
hearing dates and other deadlines that the Designated Emergency 
Disaster Coordinator has in “Go Box” is current.  Attorneys should also 
take a copy of current lists and calendars with them. 

 Ensure that client files are turned in for secure storage. 
 

B.   Post-Disaster: 
 

 As soon as possible, contact Designated Emergency Disaster Coordinator 
to advise your status, location and availability to work. 

 If Designated Emergency Disaster Coordinator is not available, contact 
the Alternate Designated Emergency Disaster Coordinator to advise your 
status, location and availability to work. 

 If neither the Designated Emergency Disaster Coordinator nor the 
Alternate Designated Emergency Disaster Coordinator is available, call 
the Community Voice Mail box at 727-210-6599 for information on when 
and where to report for work. Also leave a message advising of your 
status, location and availability to work. 

 
 

VIII. POST-DISASTER CONTINUITY OF LEGAL SERVICES 
 

A.   Short Term: 
 

 Within time determined by the Executive Director, CLP will provide legal 
assistance to area clients at our main office and/or alternate locations 
deemed appropriate by the Executive Director. 

 In the Executive Director’s absence, Mary-Lou will oversee day-to-day 
operations of CLP. 

 Contact Gulfcoast Legal Services and Bay Area Legal Services to 
coordinate distribution of Florida Bar Foundation suggested flyers, to 
determine legal needs of residents of Pinellas County, and to coordinate 
services & outreach to affected client populations. 

 Review calendars of attorneys that are not available to work and arrange 
for coverage of hearings and/or other critical work with immediate 
deadlines. 

 CLP’s priority will be to provide disaster related information, referrals and 
legal assistance to clients affected by the disaster, to maintain critical 
services to clients & prospective clients in the areas of housing, and to 
temporarily suspend, if necessary, all other normal day-to-day program 
operations within the discretion of the Executive Director, subject to 
ratification by the Board of Trustees. 

 Contact Pro Bono panel to determine attorney availability to assist clients. 
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B.   Long Term: 
 

 CLP will resume regular services and, as funding availability permits, will 
add services to aid the residents of Pinellas County in the long-term 
recovery process. 

 

IX. OTHER DISASTER PREPARATION AND RESPONSE STEPS 
 

A.   Fire Disaster Preparation and Evacuation Plan: 
 

1. General Information: 
 

 The fire alarm pull station is located in the hallway between Suites 
511 and 512 of CLP going towards the door to the parking garage. 

 The evacuation assembly area is the northwest corner of 1st 
Avenue North and 5th Street North, St. Petersburg, Florida 33701, if 
possible. If that area is not safe, the assembly area will be the 
northwest corner of 1st Avenue North and 4th Street North, St. 
Petersburg, Florida 33701. 

 The Executive Director must be notified of every fire, regardless of 
size, even if it is already extinguished. 

 
2. Executive Director Responsibilities: 

 

 Communicate the fire emergency to and direct the staff, clients and 
visitors to evacuate the building. 

 Notify 911 and building management. 

 Direct the staff to assemble at the evacuation assembly area. 

 Direct the staff not to reenter the building until reentry is allowed by 
authorities at the scene. 

 Ensure that any damaged materials are preserved for insurance 
claim purposes. 

 Ensure that all records of authorized expenses are maintained. 
 

3. Staff Responsibilities: 
 

 Notify 911 and building management and activate fire alarm pull 
station. 

 If notified of fire via fire alarm or other means, assist all clients or 
visitors while evacuating the building yourself via the nearest safe 
stairwell.  Do not use the elevators. 

 Notify the Executive Director immediately of any fire. 

 If possible, ensure that all doors and windows surrounding the fire 
area are kept closed to contain the fire. 
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 After evacuation, meet at evacuation assembly area as soon as 
possible. 

 Report any missing staff to the appropriate authorities. 
 

B.   Chemical, Biological, Explosion or Radiological Disaster Preparation 
and Evacuation Plan: 

 
1.   Response to an event outside of the building: 

 

 Notify 911 and building management. 

 If any staff member of CLP becomes aware of an external hazard, 
staff, clients and visitors will be instructed to remain inside the 
building and seek shelter in an interior room without windows until 
further notice. 

 Exterior doors and windows should remain closed. 

 Do not use elevators. 

 All doors should be closed and the area secured from smoke, 
gases, vapors and dust.  If possible, wet towels should be used to 
seal large gaps under doors. 

 Staff should assist others who may need help. 

 Staff should remain alert and be prepared to proceed to another 
area or evacuate building if instructed by appropriate authorities. 

 After evacuation, meet at evacuation assembly area as soon as 
possible. 

 Report any missing staff to the appropriate authorities. 
 

2. Response to an event inside of the building: 
 

 Notify 911 and building management. 

 If any staff member of CLP becomes aware of an internal hazard, 
staff, clients and visitors will be instructed to evacuate the building 
and not to use the elevators. 

 Staff should turn off all electrical equipment except lights and close 
all doors and windows. 

 After evacuation, meet at evacuation assembly area as soon as 
possible. 

 Report any missing staff to the appropriate authorities. 
 

C.   Bomb Threat Guidelines: 
 

 If any staff member of CLP receives a bomb threat, notify the Executive 
Director, 911 and building management, evacuate the building and do not 
use the elevators. 
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 Staff member who receives bomb threat should remember and record in 
writing all details of the conversation and the following info concerning the 
caller: 
o Whether the person has an accent, 
o Gender of the caller, 
o Any innuendoes as to the location of the bomb, and 
o Respond in a matter of fact manner and ask them to repeat what 

they said. 

 If a suspicious object is found, do not touch it.  Report it to the Executive 
Director and clear the area. 

 After evacuation, meet at evacuation assembly area as soon as possible. 

 Report any missing staff to the appropriate authorities. 
 

D. Tornado Guidelines: 
 

 When a Tornado Watch is announced, tornadoes may occur. Tune in to 
media outlets for information and advice. 

 When a Tornado Warning is issued, take shelter immediately. 

 Notify Executive Director immediately. 

 If at CLP, go to an interior hallway on the lowest level possible. Do not use 
the elevators.  Assist any clients and visitors in doing the same. 

 Seek out interior spaces that form a protective core. Stay away from 
windows, exterior walls and exterior doors. If possible, cover yourself with 
a rug or blanket. 

 If in a car and the tornado is nearby, get out of the car. Do not try to out 
run a tornado with your vehicle.  If it is not possible to find suitable shelter 
inside a building, lay flat in a ditch, culvert or low area. Cover your head 
with your hands. 

 If outdoors, lie face down in a ditch or nearest low area and cover your 
head with your hands. 

 After tornado, take extreme care when moving about in an area damaged 
by a tornado. Watch for downed power lines, shattered glass, splintered 
wood or other sharp protruding objects. 

 
E. Health Pandemics 

 
If a health pandemic causes a significant restriction in in-person operations 
and/or if the Governor or Mayor issues a shelter in place order, the executive 
director will provide further written instructions to staff as it relates to the safety 
and security of staff, working remotely, continuity of operations, and preparing 
the office for safe interaction with the general public. 

 

X. THE EVACUATION “GO BOX” CHECKLIST 
 

o Emergency contact list of employees. 
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o Computer user names and passwords. 
 
o Original insurance policies and agent and insurer contact information. 
 
o List of emergency vendors.  
 
o List of vendors and supplies essential for mission critical activities. 
 
o Back-up files/tapes or server of electronic data. 
 
o Copies of CLP policies, including emergency procedures, disaster 

preparedness, employee manual.   
 
o Inventory of office equipment.   

 
o Paper calendar of each attorneys critical dates for hearing and deadlines. 
 
o Contact information for Board of Directors. 
 
o Contact information for Pro Bono panel. 
 
o CLP’s Voice Mail Guide. 
o Copy of Mutual Aid Agreements with Gulfcoast Legal Services and Bay 

Area legal services. 
 
o Copy of all records of information needed for continuation of grants: 
 

A. Open Cases 
 
B. Clinic Records 
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Pinellas CARES Non-profit Partnership Fund 

LPO/Collaborative Partners List 

 

We plan to collaborative with the following partners: 

1. Bay Area Legal Services, Inc. 

Primary Contact: Lisa Brody 

Email: lbrody@bals.org 

 

2. Gulfcoast Legal Services, Inc. 

Primary Contact: Tammy Greer 

Email: tammyg@gulfcoastllegal.org 
 

3. Stetson University College of Law 

Primary Contact: Professor Christine Cerniglia 

Email: ccernigl@law.stetson.edu 

 

4. 211 Tampa Bay Cares 

Primary Contact: Micki Thompson 

Email: mickit@211tampabay.org 

 

5. St. Petersburg Bar Association 

Primary Contact: Melissa Byers 

Email: mbyers@stpetebar.com 

 

6. Clearwater Bar Association 

Primary Contact:  Teresa Conte 

Email: teresa@clearwaterbar.org 

 

7. Homeless Leadership Alliance, Inc. 

Primary Contact: Susan Finlaw-Dusseault 

Email: sfdusseault@hlapinellas.org 

 

8. Dab Community Services, Inc. 

Primary Contact: Faye Watson 

Email: faye@dabcommunityservices.org 
 

9. Community Development and Training Center, Inc. (CDAT) 

Primary Contact: Bro. John Muhammad 

Email: yourbrotherjohn1@gmail.com 
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FROM (date): _Sept. 8, 2020 - December 30, 
2020_______________  TO (date): ______

Budget Category/Line Item Program Budget - Total Pinellas CARES Grant
Personnel (salaries, wages, benefits, payroll taxes, time allocation on 
the project for all personnel involved in program) $84,764.00 77,874.01

Equipment (computers, furniture, etc., less than $3,000 per item)
5,372.97 5,372.97

Supplies (office materials, program related purchases, program 
necessities to deliver services, etc.) $1,130.96 $631.96
Occupancy (property rent, mortgage, utilities, telephone, internet, 
etc. assigned as program expenses) $4,812.75 $3,315.95
Local Travel (mileage, tolls, parking for regular local travel, 
rental/leasing cost of transportation) $575.00 $575.00

Training (staff development, conferences, long distance travel)
$1,000.00 $0.00

Design, Printing, Marketing & Postage (for direct program 
related services only) $4,787.00 $4,787.00
Capital (Buildings, vehicles, equipment $3,000 or more per item. The 
purchase of capital must represent the lower cost option for the period 
during which the purchased asset would be used for COVID-response 
activities) $0.00 $0.00 
Purchased Services (consultants, legal, accounting services, 
logistical partner costs, technology enhancements, computer software 
licensing/agreements) $169,208.90 $169,208.90

TOTAL
271651.58 $261,765.79

FROM (date): _Sept. 8, 2020 - December 30, 2020_______________  TO (date): ______

Pinellas Community Foundation

Pinellas CARES Nonprofit Partnership Fund Grant Application

Project Name: Pinellas Eviction Diversion Program____________________________

Organization Name: ___Community Law Program, Inc._____________________________

NOTE: For this particular budget, the grantee may not exceed 
$240,000 and may reduce any particular line item as needed to 
not exceed the $240,000 threshold in their contract. This 
amount may be amended through grant agreement 
amendments in the future.
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Pinellas Community Foundation 
PCF CARES Application 

BUDGET NARRATIVE FORM 

BRIEF INSTRUCTIONAL VIDEO – CLICK LINK - https://youtu.be/s5kkxsaQkCg 

If you are applying under multiple funding areas, please indicate which funding area (food, 
behavioral health, and/or eviction mitigation through legal aid) each cost belongs to. 

This narrative is to explain the costs in the Pinellas CARES Grant Column of the Budget 
Summary 

Organization Name:  Community Law Program, Inc. 
Project Name: Pinellas COVID-19 Eviction Diversion Program 
FROM (month/year):    September 8, 2020   TO (month/year):  December 30, 2020 
 ---+ ++ 
ALL DESCRIPTIONS BELOW SHOULD BE CLEAR AS TO HOW REQUESTED FUNDS BY AREA 
RELATE TO ADDITION AL COSTS THAT WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN INCURRED OR PLANNED IF 
NOT FOR COVID-19 

Personnel (salaries, wages, benefits, payroll taxes, time allocation, and a brief description of the 
responsibilities on the project for all personnel involved in program) 
Define each position and indicate how the costs you are requesting expands your COVID-19-
related programming and/or how it was unbudgeted as of 3/1/2020 or later. Be sure to include 
as much detail as possible for each position, e.g. rate per hour and number of hours for new 
position due to COVID-19 or increased hours as a result of COVID-19 (see example if needed). 

$73,524.21 as salary plus $5,624.60 in payroll taxes (calculated at $73,524.21 x 0.0765) plus 
$35.00 in Fl. Reemployment ($35,000 x 0.001) for a total personnel costs of $79,183.81.  The 
salary costs are broken down as: 

$20,000.00 - To re-launch and expand our program so that it is both county-wide and 
available for tenants and landlords to participate regardless of whether or not funds have 
been deposited into the court’s registry and/or an eviction action has been filed, we need 
to hire a full-time Mediation Director to direct & oversee the implementation of all phases 
of the program, including the hiring of additional program staff.  The Mediation Director 
will begin work on September 8, 2020 and will be paid biweekly a salary of $2,500.00 for a 
total of 8 pay periods ($2,500.00 x 8) = $20,000.00) 

$16,800 - To respond to increased inquiries both over the phone & online from tenants 
and landlords inquiring about program services, to monitor eviction filings and reach out 
to prospective clients, and to schedule mediations, we will need to hire 2 new temporary 
full-time Intake Specialists/Legal Assistants who will be paid $15.00 per hour for 40 hours 
per week.  The Intake Specialists are anticipated to begin work on Sept. 22nd, and will be 
paid $1,200 biweekly for a total of 7 weeks ($1,200 x 7 x 2 = $16,800) 

DocuSign Envelope ID: CCB2CFC1-83F4-49B0-A01D-B6BBB9AF5329

https://youtu.be/s5kkxsaQkCg


$11,040 - To coordinate logistics of virtual mediations, to provide legal information and 
assistance under the supervision of an attorney to increased numbers of tenants inquiring 
about program, to assist Contract attorneys in preparing for mediation, & to assist in 
making referrals to other legal aid partners for additional legal assistance, we will need to 
hire a temporary full-time Paralegal.  The temporary full-time Paralegal will be paid $23.00 
per hour for 40 hours per week payable biweekly in the amount of $1,840 beginning Oct. 
6, 2020 for a total of 6 weeks = $11,040.00. 
 
$12,761.15 - To provide supervision of program Paralegal and training and quality control 
of contract attorneys, grant compliance including training & ensuring compliance of LPOs, 
we will need to hire a Staff Attorney, who will dedicate 60% of his/her time to this project 
(i.e. 0.60 FTE).   This staff attorney will be paid $3,038.46 biweekly with 60% of her time 
dedicated to this project, her compensation under this program will be $1,823.08 biweekly 
beginning Sept. 22nd for a total of 7 weeks = $12,761.54. 
 
$12,923.06 – The Executive Director will dedicate 40% of her time to this project in terms 
of connecting & facilitating relationships, supervision/management, including serving as 
direct liaison to LPOs.  The Executive Director will also perform the day-to-day 
bookkeeping & financial management, and will assist in grant compliance.  The Executive 
Director will be paid $ $4,615.38 biweekly with 40% of her time dedicated to this project.  
Her compensation under this program will be $1,846.15 biweekly beginning Sept. 22nd for 
a total of 7 weeks = $12,923.06 
 
 

 
Equipment (computers, phone, furniture, etc., less than $3,000 per item) 
Define each individual piece of equipment, where it will be purchased from, how much it costs, 
and how the costs you are requesting expands your COVID-19-related programming. Including 
estimates, quotes, or print offs from a supplier website is helpful to defend these costs.  
 
$5,372.97 - broken down as follows: 
 
$2,934.00 for 3 new Dell laptops from Positron Computer Services with wireless mice ($948.00 
x 3 with extended warranty plus $30.00 x 3 per wireless mouse = $2,934.00 (see attached 
quote).  These laptops are needed for the 3 of the 5 new positions described above.  
 
$1,197.00 for 3 new HP m428 All-in-One printers ($399 each) for new staff who may need to 
work remotely. 
 
$341.97 for 3 3-drawer file cabinets from Staples ($113.99 each) to store program related 
documents as a result of serving more people 
 
$800.00 for 4 new phone headsets from Staples for intake specialists ($200.00 each) 
 
$100.00 for 1 desk chair from Staples for intake specialist ($100.00 each) 
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Supplies (office materials, program related purchases, program necessities to deliver services, 
etc.) 
Define each supply requested, where it will be purchased from, how much it costs, and how the 
costs you are requesting expands your COVID-19-related programming.  
 
$630.96 broken down as follows: 
 
$75.96 for 4 boxes of face masks for program staff & additional members of the public to 
interact safely with another in-person 
 
$ 555.00 for 3 Plastic Protection Desk Shields for new program staff as PPE at the rate of 
$185.00 each purchased from Sun Works Plastics 
 
Occupancy (property rent, mortgage, utilities, telephone, internet, etc. assigned as program 
expenses) 
Define each occupancy-related item, the supplier of the service, how much it costs, the % which 
is appropriately allocated to this grant, and how the costs you are requesting expands your 
COVID-19-related programming.  
 
$3315.95 broken down as follows: 
 
$96.00 for 2 additional phone lines added to our existing phone system through Pinellas County 
charged at the rate of $12.00 per month per line for 4 months. 
 
$ 800.00 to add 4 additional parking spaces to our existing lease agreement with Pinellas 
County for the new project staff charged at the rate of $50.00 per space per month for 4 
months. 
 
$2419.95 Prorated property rent for 3 months at $806.65 per month (prorated). 
 
 
 
Local Travel (mileage, tolls, parking for regular local travel, rental/leasing cost of transportation) 
 
Define each travel item, the person who will be incurring the cost (for staff travel), the supplier 
of the services (for rental/leasing), and how the costs you are requesting expands your COVID-
19-related programming. 
 
$575.00 for mileage costs based on 1,000 miles @ $0.57.5 per mile for program staff to travel 
to promote project. 
 
Design, Printing, Marketing & Postage (for direct program related services only) 
Define each item, the supplier of the services, the cost, and how the costs you are requesting 
expands your COVID-19-related programming. 
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$5,387 broken down as follows: 
 
$1,500 for graphic design of expanded program logo & printed program collateral (i.e., flyers, 
letterhead template, door tags, business cards, etc.) by Lipton Design 
 
$3,287.00 for printing costs paid to Lipton Design 
 $ 112.00 business cards for 4 program staff members @ $28.00 per box of 500 
 $ 94.00 for 1000 Business Envelopes with program name, logo, & contact info. 
 $1,090 for 10.000 flyers (tenant centered) 
 $ 225.00 for 1000 flyers (landlord-centered) 
 $ 595 for 5,000 flyers (Program/Case for Support =centered) 
 $ 225.00 for 2,000 Rack Cards for distribution & agencies that serve tenants 
 $ 946.00 for 5,000 door hangers 
 
$600.00 for social media advertising & rate of $200.00 per month for 3 months 
 
 
 
Capital (buildings, vehicles, equipment $5,000 or more per item. The purchase of capital must 
represent the lower cost option for the period during which the purchased asset would be used 
for COVID-response activities)  
Define each item, the vendor who will supply the capital item, or construct the item, and 
provide a defense for how the purchase of this item costs less than the leasing of the item for 
the grant period. Also explain how this item is necessary for the expansion of your COVID-19-
related programming. 
 
$0.00 
 
Purchased Services (consultants, legal, accounting services, logistical partner costs, technology 
enhancements, computer software licensing/agreements) 
Define each item, the vendor supplying the purchased services, the cost of the services per a 
specified period of time, and explain how this is necessary for the expansion of your COVID-19-
related programming. 
 
$169,208.94 broken down as follows: 
 
$4,800 for cost of new website dedicated to project with online intake capability ready for 
launch by Oct. 15, 2020 by Hashtag Creative 
 
$3,600 for SEO & social media marketing dedicated specifically for project by Hashtag Creative 
paid at the rate of $1,200 per month 
 
$2,560.00 computer/IT services, add Positron Computer Services $128.00 per hour for 20 
hours. 
 
$3,400.00 Accounting services from Jessica V. Shellard, CPA, LLC at the rate of $85.00 per hour 
for 40. 
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$7,950.00 – CLP will contract with Florida Supreme Court certified mediators to handle 
relaunched and expanded virtual mediations that will serve more people.  CLP will pay 
mediators a flat rate of $ 75.00 for an estimated total of 106 mediations = $7,950.00. 
 
$53,000.00– CLP will contract with local attorneys to represent up to 106 household members 
at mediation if the landlord agrees to participate and/or in resolving an eviction dispute.  CLP 
will pay $100.00 per hour up to a maximum of $500.00 per case x 106 households for a total of 
$53,000.00 
 
$126.17 for DocuSign & Boost subscription purchased from TechSoup (prorated based on 4 
months) for obtaining electronic signatures of program participants and of mediation 
agreements 
 
$88.77 for Zoom licenses (4 months) to host virtual mediations 
 
$90.00 for Adobe Pro (3 months) to work more efficiently with documents.  
 
$28,600 to 211 Tampa Bay Cares for the cost of employing 2 temporary Pinellas CARES Program 
reviewers who are dedicated to this project to ensure that we have the most expedited 
approval process for rental assistance.  The cost of this service is $1,100 per week per employee 
x 13 weeks = $28,600.00. 

  
$15,600 paid to Dab Community Services, Inc.  to conduct outreach to salons & barber shops in 
the Black community, to conduct weekly outreach events to this target population, and to assist 
the Program’s Mediation Director in identifying and engaging multi-unit landlords in our 
Program.  (See attached proposed MOU for deliverables). 

 
$ 49,394 paid to CDAT to oversee the coordination, recruitment, and deployment of a street 
outreach team tasked with making contact with potential tenants and encouraging them to 
participate in our Program.  (See attached proposal for goals, deliverables, and a budget for 
expenditures. 
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